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About us

Sundart is one of the leading integrated fitting-out contractors in Hong Kong, Macau and
the PRC, specialising in providing professional fitting-out works for residential property
and hotel projects. We have been operating our fitting-out business in Hong Kong since
1996 and we further expanded our fitting-out business to Macau and the PRC in 2005

and 2017, respectively.

We have undertaken a number of sizeable fitting-out projects in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. As a fitting-out contractor, we are responsible for the
overall project implementation by providing, processing or arranging for the
necessary materials, labour, engineering expertise and technical know-
how required for the fitting-out works and carrying out corresponding
project management so as to ensure that the fitting-out works conform

to the contractual requirements, meet customers’ expectation and are
completed on time and within budget.

In addition, we acquired Kin Shing, a registered general building
contractor in October 2010 to expand our capability as a
registered general building contractor for construction,
interior decoration, repair, maintenance and alteration and
addition works for residential properties, hotels, factories,

and commercial buildings in Hong Kong. Further, we
manufacture interior decorative timber products such as

fire-rated timber doors and wooden furniture, through

Dongguan Sundart, the majority of which are used

for our projects.
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below.

"AGM" the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 10:00 a.m. on Thursday, 3
June 2021 at Room 03-05, 11/F, Millennium City 3, 370 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong or any adjournment thereof

“"Amended Deed” an amended and restated deed of non-competition dated 25 July 2017 given by the
controlling shareholders of the Company in favour of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries) to amend and restate a deed of non-competition
dated 8 December 2015

"Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

"associate(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

“Beijing Jiangheyuan” TR AR AR (Beijing Jiangheyuan Holdings Co., Ltd.*), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and a controlling shareholder of the
Company

"Board” the board of Directors

“business day” any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong) on which

licensed banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business

"BVI" the British Virgin Islands
“C&SD" Census and Statistics Department of the Hong Kong Government
“Caiyun International” Caiyun International Investment Limited (¥ 2R EFR A R]), a company

incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yunnan
Health & Cultural Tourism and a substantial shareholder of the Company

“close associates” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Code Provisions” code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

“Company” SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED #:E& B AR A 7], a company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1568)

“"Company Secretary” the company secretary of the Company

“connected person(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“controlling shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules, and in the context of the
Company, means Mr. Liu, Ms. Fu, Beijing Jiangheyuan, Jangho Co, Jangho HK and
Reach Glory
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“Covid-19"

“Director(s)”

“Dongguan Sundart”

"ESG"
"FVTPL”
“GDP”

“Group” or “our” or
“Sundart” or “us” or “we"

"HK$" or “HK dollars” or
“cents”

"HKQAA"
“Hong Kong"

“Hong Kong Government”

“Internal Control Committee”

50"

“ISO 14001"

“ISO 45001"

“ISO 9001"

Definitions

the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), a respiratory illness caused by a novel
coronavirus

the director(s) of the Company

HEACEREAMR AR (Dongguan Sundart Home Furnishing Co., Ltd.), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

the environmental, social and governance

fair value through profit or loss

gross domestic product

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollars or cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
the government of Hong Kong

the internal control committee of the Board

the International Organisation for Standardisation, a non-government organisation
based in Geneva, Switzerland, for assessing the quality systems of business
organisations

a member of ISO 14000 which is a family of environmental management standards set
by ISO for assisting a company to continually improve its ability to efficiently identify,
minimise, prevent and manage environmental impacts

a member of ISO 45000 which is a family of occupational health and safety
management standards set by ISO for assisting a company to provide a healthy and
safe workplace for workers and other interested parties, prevent ill-health, work-
related injury and deaths as well as continually improve occupational health and
safety performance

a member of ISO 9000 which is a family of standards set by ISO for quality
management system where an organisation needs to demonstrate its ability to
provide products that fulfil customers and applicable regulatory requirements and aim
to enhance customer satisfaction
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Definitions

"Jangho Co”

"Jangho HK"

“Kin Shing”

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

"

e
“Macau”
“Macau Government”

“Model Code”

“MOP”

“Mr. Liu"

“Ms. FU"

“Nomination Committee”

“PRC”

“PRC Government”
“Previous Year”

“Reach Glory”

“"Remuneration Committee”

TTWAIZEBASB AR AR (Jangho Group Co., Ltd.*), a joint stock limited liability
company established in the PRC (the A shares of which have been listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601886) since 18 August 2011) and a controlling
shareholder of the Company

Jangho Hong Kong Holdings Limited (A & & 12 & AR 2 7)), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jangho Co and a
controlling shareholder of the Company

Kin Shing (Leung’'s) General Contractors Limited (E24 (BK)ZEBR AT, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

29 December 2015, being the date of listing of the Shares on the main board of the
Stock Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended from time to time

square meters
the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
the government of Macau

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau

Mr. Liu Zaiwang (23 52), the non-executive Director, a controlling shareholder of the
Company and the spouse of Ms. Fu

Ms. Fu Haixia (E/8&), a controlling shareholder of the Company and the spouse of
Mr. Liu

the nomination committee of the Board

the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this annual report, Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan

the government of the PRC

the year ended 31 December 2019

REACH GLORY INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jangho HK and a controlling shareholder

of the Company

the remuneration committee of the Board
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"RMB"

"SEQ”

“Share(s)”
“Shareholder(s)”

“Share Option Scheme”

“Stock Exchange”

“subsidiary”

“substantial shareholder(s)”

“Sundart Beijing"

“Sundart Macau”

“Sundart Timber”

“Year”

“Yunnan Health & Cultural
Tourism”

u(y "
(o]

* for identification purpose only

Definitions

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended from time to time

ordinary share(s) of the Company
the holder(s) of Share(s)

the share option scheme, which was adopted by the Company and took effect from 1
December 2015, as amended from time to time

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

b FEGEAIRE M TIZAR A F) (Sundart Engineering & Contracting (Beijing) Limited),
a company established in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

Sundart Engineering Services (Macau) Limited (i T2 R CRF9) BR A A)), a
company incorporated in Macau with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

Sundart Timber Products Company Limited (FZARH #@AR A F]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

the year ended 31 December 2020

ERE BRI EB AR AR (Yunnan Health & Cultural Tourism Holding Group Co.,
Ltd.*), (formerly known as Z2FE&A T ERIEEEB AR AT (Yunnan Metropolitan
Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd.*)), a company established in the PRC with

limited liability and a substantial shareholder of the Company

per cent.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present you the annual results for the Year of the Group.

Looking back on 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic severely hit the global economy as well as the international trading and
investment. Specifically, coupled with the local social unrest and the economic uncertainties caused by the Sino-US
trade dispute, Hong Kong had been plunged into an economic recession. Despite the complicated external environment
and uncertain economic outlook, the Group carried out a number of large-scale fitting-out projects during the Year by
leveraging its solid business foundation, well-established brand reputation and effective development strategy. As a
result, the Group maintained solid profit and healthy cash flow while preserving its industry-leading position.

During the Year, the Group’s revenue was HK$5,929.1 million (Previous Year: HK$6,096.2 million), profit for the year
was HK$406.5 million (Previous Year: HK$413.0 million) and basic earnings per share was HK18.83 cents (Previous Year:
HK19.14 cents). The Board is pleased to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK8 cents per Share for the
Year, representing approximately 42.5% of the profit available for distribution for the Year.

Although the economic environment was challenging during the Year, the Group was awarded numerous projects and
maintained market share by leveraging its proven track record, professional project management and strategic business
planning. The Group completed 28 fitting-out projects with the individual contract sum being not less than HK$50.0
million, as well as seven alteration and addition and construction projects during the Year. Most of these projects
involved large-scale hotel guestrooms, residential properties and commercial buildings.

Even though Hong Kong's economy experienced slowdown during the Year, strong local demand for housing remained
as a result of the scarce land supply and low interest rate. In view of this, the real property market will remain stable in
the coming years, in turn supporting the demand for fitting-out services.

Despite the serious impact on Macau’s tourism and gambling industries brought by Covid-19 pandemic during the
Year, the Macau Government has implemented effective measures to cope with Covid-19 pandemic, and was the first
region in the PRC reopened for outbound tourists destination. The number of PRC tourists visiting Macau has gradually
recovered, and the tourism and gambling industries regained the support. The Macau Government will also strengthen
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Chairman’s Statement

tourism cooperation between Macau and Henggin. It is expected to boost the demand for casinos, shopping malls and
hotels, which will in turn support both construction and fitting-out industries in Macau.

As the PRC Government has implemented the “Dual Circulation” policy and is aiming to foster the development of the
same, the domestic economy, which is one of the major driving forces of “Dual Circulation”, is expected to bloom in the
near future. Furthermore, with effective Covid-19 prevention and control policies, communities and people’s livelihoods
are gradually returning to normal. Consumer confidence has rebounded, stimulating the recovery in the retail and
catering industries. This will bolster the demand for hotels and large-scale shopping malls so as to create a huge
potential market for fitting-out projects in the PRC.

Accelerated development plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area has been put in place, and
numbers of prestigious, large-scale domestic and international enterprises plan to settle or expand throughout this
region. As a result, opportunities for new construction and fitting-out projects are expected to be significant, and the
Group will be prudent and flexible to take full advantage of these opportunities while seeking to expand market share.

Looking ahead, the Group will further consolidate its relationships with the existing customers and actively expand
cooperation with new customers. Meanwhile, the Group will flexibly integrate and deploy resources among Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC, and will also strengthen cost control measures to optimise its business strategies and competitive
advantages in order to expand the Group’s business scale to achieve higher profit level, and maintain our leading
market position.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to our Shareholders,
customers, business partners and other professional parties for their strong support, as well as our management
team and all employees for their hard work and commitment to the Group during this uncertain time. We will carry on
dedicating our efforts towards the long-term development in order to create maximum value for our Shareholders.

Liu Zaiwang
Chairman
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2020 was a difficult year for Hong Kong's economy. The volatility of Covid-19 coupled with the uncertainty of Sino-
US trade dispute and the global economic slowdown had brought unprecedented challenges to the local economy.
According to C&SD, Hong Kong's GDP decreased by 6.1% year-on-year in real terms in 2020.

According to the provisional results of the “Report on the Quarterly Survey of Construction Output” released by C&SD,
the total gross value of construction works carried out by the main contractors in Hong Kong decreased by 4.2% in
nominal terms year-on-year to HK$226.4 billion in 2020. However, the statistics from the Land Registry of the Hong Kong
Government indicated that primary and secondary sales of residential buildings in 2020 reached 59,880 units, which
was closed to the average figure over the past five years. The residential property market remained relatively stable
in terms of transaction volume, and the demand for residential properties remained strong even in turbulent times.
As mentioned in the Chief Executive’s 2020 Policy Address, the Hong Kong Government will continue to increase the
supply of residential buildings, which will in turn support the development of both construction industry and real estate
market, sustaining a stable demand for the fitting-out industry in Hong Kong.

Macau's economy, which relies heavily on its tourism industry and export of services, experienced a severe recession
in 2020 due to the outbreak of Covid-19. Information from the Statistics and Census Service of the Macau Government
indicated that the Macau’s GDP decreased by 56.3% year-on-year in real terms in 2020. With the Macau Government's
implementation of vigorous measures to limit inbound travel, the number of tourists decreased by 85.0% in 2020 in
accordance with the information from Macao Government Tourism Office. Meanwhile, the latest statistics from Gaming
Inspection and Coordination Bureau of Macau indicated that revenue from the gambling sector decreased by 79.3%
year-on-year to MOP60.4 billion in 2020. Nevertheless, the construction activities in Macau did not appreciably stall,
which was mainly attributable to the fact that (i) the Macau Government had implemented effective measures for
pandemic control, and (ii) some gambling operators and developers continued their development plans during the Year
in order to attract tourists with the upgraded facilities once the economy recovers and sustain a stable demand for the
fitting-out industry in the future.

With the successful control of Covid-19, the PRC resumed its normal business activities and achieved positive growth
of economy in 2020. In 2020, the PRC’s GDP increased by 2.3% year-on-year to RMB101,598.6 billion according to
information from National Bureau of Statistics of China, and the PRC's real estate market maintained steady growth
as a whole. Specifically, the investment in national real estate development in 2020 increased by 7.0% year-on-year to
RMB14,144.3 billion, among which, investment in residential buildings increased by 7.6% year-on-year to RMB10,444.6
billion and investment in office buildings increased by 5.4% year-on-year to RMB649.4 billion. The total floor area under
construction by the PRC's real estate developers increased by 3.7% year-on-year to 9.3 billion m2 in 2020. Coupled with
the PRC Government'’s strict control measures on Covid-19 and implementation of policies to enhance the stability
of real estate market, the construction activities on real estate projects had recovered significantly, stimulating the
demand for the fitting-out industry in the PRC.

SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group is one of the leading integrated fitting-out contractors in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, specialising in
providing professional fitting-out works for residential property and hotel projects. The Group is also engaged in the
business of providing alteration and addition and construction works in Hong Kong and the business of providing
manufacturing, sourcing and distribution services of interior decorative materials internationally. During the Year, about
95.4% of the Group’s revenue was derived from its fitting-out works.

Although the outbreak of Covid-19 severely impacted the global economic activities, there had been no apparent or
serious impact on the business operation of the Group. The Group implemented effective measures on management
as well as cost and expenditure control to ensure that the operating performance remained solid during the Year.
Leveraging its solid brand reputation, professional project management capabilities and economic of scale, the Group
obtained several sizable fitting-out projects during the Year, which are expected to sustain stable business development
of the Group in the coming years.

Fitting-out works

The Group's fitting-out business primarily comprises the fitting-out works carried out for hotels, serviced apartments,
residential properties and other properties in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. During the Year, fitting-out business
remained as the key contributor to the Group’s revenue and profit.

During the Year, the Group completed a total of 28 fitting-out projects, including 10 in Hong Kong, six in Macau and 12
in the PRC, with the individual contract sum being not less than HK$50.0 million. The total contract sum of such projects
amounted to HK$6,410.9 million, HK$2,294.3 million of which was recognised as revenue during the Year. As at 31
December 2020, the Group had 59 projects on hand (including contracts in progress and contracts signed but yet to
commence), including 24 in Hong Kong, one in Macau and 34 in the PRC, with the individual contract sum being not less
than HK$50.0 million. The total contract sum and value of the outstanding works of such projects as at 31 December
2020 amounted to HK$6,953.2 million and HK$3,633.3 million, respectively.

During the Year, the Group’s revenue derived from its fitting-out business increased by HK$360.5 million or 6.8% year-
on-year to HK$5,654.1 million (Previous Year: HK$5,293.6 million). Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in the number of projects the Group awarded in the PRC in the past two years. As a result, the Group's revenue derived
from its fitting-out business in the PRC increased by HK$385.8 million, as compared to the Previous Year.

The Group's gross profit derived from its fitting-out business during the Year increased by HK$78.1 million or 9.3% year-
on-year to HK$915.9 million (Previous Year: HK$837.8 million). The increase in gross profit was mainly attributable to the
increase in revenue and the slight increase of gross profit margin for its fitting-out business from 15.8% for the Previous
Year to 16.2% for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Alteration and addition and construction works

The Group carries out alteration and addition and construction business in Hong Kong through Kin Shing, a registered
general building contractor in Hong Kong. Kin Shing's principal service scope include construction, interior decoration,
repair, maintenance and alteration and addition works for residential properties, hotels, factories and commercial
buildings in Hong Kong,.

During the Year, Kin Shing completed a total of seven alteration and addition and construction projects, with a total
contract sum of HK$1,789.9 million, HK$160.6 million of which was recognised as revenue during the Year. As at
31 December 2020, Kin Shing had one on-going project with a contract sum of HK$188.0 million. The value of the
outstanding works of such project as at 31 December 2020 amounted to HK$88.9 million.

During the Year, the Group's revenue derived from its alteration and addition and construction business decreased
by HK$522.5 million or 66.1% year-on-year to HK$268.3 million (Previous Year: HK$790.8 million). Such decrease was
primarily attributable to the fact that the Group carried out four sizable projects in the Previous Year but only two
sizeable projects during the Year.

The Group's gross loss derived from its alteration and addition and construction business was HK$2.1 million (Previous
Year: gross profit of HK$5.8 million), whilst the gross loss margin was 0.8% (Previous Year: gross profit margin of 0.7%).
Such gross loss and gross loss margin was primarily attributable to the additional overheads and/or cost incurred for
several construction projects of commercial and residential buildings due to the extension of construction period and
the defect rectification.

Manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials

One of the Group's core competencies lies in its manufacturing base and research and development centre in the
PRC. Through Dongguan Sundart, the Group operates a manufacturing plant and a warehouse in Dongguan, Guangdong
Province, the PRC, with the aggregate gross floor area of which is over 40,000 m2. Dongguan Sundart manufactures
interior decorative timber products, such as fire-rated timber doors and wooden furniture, and provides quality and
reliable re-engineering and pre-fabrication services for sizeable fitting-out projects undertaken by the Group.

During the Year, the Group's revenue derived from external customers of its manufacturing, sourcing and distribution
of interior decorative materials business decreased by HK$5.1 million or 43.2% year-on-year to HK$6.7 million (Previous
Year: HK$11.8 million). Such decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in acceptance of orders from external
customers due to the reservation of certain manufacturing capacity of Dongguan Sundart for the fitting-out projects
carried out by other subsidiaries of the Group.

In addition, during the Year, the Group's gross profit derived from its manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior
decorative materials business decreased by HK$5.3 million or 86.9% year-on-year to HK$0.8 million (Previous Year:
HK$6.1 million), whilst the gross profit margin decreased to 11.9% (Previous Year: 51.7%). Such decrease was primarily
due to the completion of an order from the PRC which had a relatively high gross profit margin during the Previous
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Principal risks

As at 31 December 2020, the Group was principally engaged in integrated fitting-out works in Hong Kong, Macau and
the PRC, alteration and addition and construction works in Hong Kong and manufacturing, sourcing and distribution
of interior decorative materials business globally. Under the ever-changing business environment, the Group is
facing various business risks, challenges and uncertainties, including but not limited to: (i) the Group’s contracts are
not recurring in nature and its business prospect heavily depends on its continuing success on project tender; (ii) if
the global economic downturn or prolonged disruptions to the credit markets continues, the Group's ability of debt
financing may be limited or cost of debt financing may be higher, and the Group’s business, financial condition and
results of operation may be adversely affected; (iii) changes in the social, political and economic landscape of Hong
Kong and Macau may materially affect the Group’s business; (iv) the economy of Macau may adversely affect the
Group's performance and financial condition; and (v) the business strategies and performance of the Group’s major
customers may affect the Group’s business.

Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, the Group's revenue decreased by HK$167.1 million or 2.7% year-on-year to HK$5,929.1 million (Previous
Year: HK$6,096.2 million). Such decrease was primarily due to the decrease in revenue from its alteration and addition
and construction business as discussed under the paragraph headed “Business review — Alteration and addition and
construction works” above. However, during the Year, the Group’s gross profit increased by HK$64.9 million or 7.6%
year-on-year to HK$914.6 million (Previous Year: HK$849.7 million) and its gross profit margin increased to 15.4%
(Previous Year: 13.9%). Such increases were primarily due to the increase in its fitting-out business as discussed under
the paragraph headed “Business review — Fitting-out works” above.

Other income, other gains and losses

The Group recorded net other losses of HK$45.4 million for the Year (Previous Year: HK$33.1 million), primarily derived
from a loss of HK$72.6 million resulted from fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL, as the market price of the
listed equity securities and unlisted equity fund held by the Group decreased during the Year. Details of other income,
other gains and losses are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

Profit for the year

The Group's profit for the year decreased by HK$6.5 million or 1.6% year-on-year to HK$406.5 million (Previous Year:
HK$413.0 million). Such decrease was primarily attributable to the increase in impairment losses on trade and other
receivables and bills receivable and contract assets, due to the increasing long outstanding balances in respect of the
fitting-out projects in the PRC.

Basic earnings per share

The Company's basic earnings per share for the Year was HK18.83 cents (Previous Year: HK19.14 cents), decreased by
HK0.31 cents or 1.6% year-on-year, in line with the decrease in profit for the year. Details of earnings per share are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Final dividend

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK8 cents per Share for the Year, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at
the AGM, representing approximately 42.5% of the profit available for distribution for the Year, which is in line with the
Company's dividend policy.

Material acquisition and disposal

No material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures was carried out by the Group during
the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial assets at FVTPL
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL comprised of HK$61.4 million and HK$92.0 million (31
December 2019: HK$92.9 million and HK$123.6 million) of listed equity securities and unlisted equity fund, respectively.

During the Year, the Group further injected HK$9.4 million to the unlisted equity fund to fulfill capital commitment in
capacity as a limited partner. Further, the Group recognised a fair value loss of HK$72.6 million in profit or loss for the
Year. As at 29 March 2021, a decline in the value of certain listed equity securities held by the Group due to the drop in
market price of such securities. In terms of the prospects of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL, the performance of
the listed equity securities and unlisted equity fund held by the Group will be subject to the performance of the relevant
financial and property markets which may change rapidly and unpredictably in the future. The Group will continuously
adopt a prudent investment strategy and assess the performance of its portfolio of investments, so as to make timely
and appropriate adjustments on its investments for the maximisation of returns to the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other significant investment during the Year.

The Group is subject to the market risks associated with its investments. The management of the Group will closely
monitor the performance of the Group’s investments from time to time and take appropriate risk management actions.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets
As at 29 March 2021, the Group did not have any plan for material investments or capital assets.

Liquidity and financial resources and capital structure

The management and control of the Group’s financial, capital management and external financing functions are
centralised at its headquarters in Hong Kong. The Group adheres to the principle of prudent financial management
to minimise the financial and operational risks it is exposed to. During the Year, the Group mainly relied on internally
generated funds and bank borrowings to finance its business operation.

During the Year, the Group continued to maintain a solid financial and cash position. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group's working capital amounted to HK$2,263.7 million, representing an increase of HK$284.3 million from HK$1,979.4
million as recorded as at 31 December 2019, and the bank balances and cash in total amounted to HK$1,572.1 million,
representing an increase of HK$494.0 million from HK$1,078.1 million as recorded as at 31 December 2019. Such
increase was mainly generated from the operating activities.

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings of the Group amounted to HK$164.7 million (31 December 2019:
HK$373.3 million), and its repayment schedule is set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. There is no
seasonality on the Group's bank borrowings.

During the Year, the Group continued to maintain a healthy liquidity position. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s
current assets and current liabilities amounted to HK$5,539.2 million and HK$3,275.5 million, respectively (31 December
2019: HK$5,172.1 million and HK$3,192.7 million, respectively). The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2020
increased to 1.7 times (31 December 2019: 1.6 times) and the Group maintained sufficient liquid assets to finance its
business operation during the Year.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's gearing ratio of total debts (bank borrowings) divided by total equity was 5.5%
(31 December 2019: 14.7%). The decrease in gearing ratio was primarily due to the decrease in the Group's bank
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2020, the share capital and equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$1,246.8
million and HK$2,996.9 million, respectively (31 December 2019: HK$1,246.8 million and HK$2,535.3 million, respectively).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Charge on the Group's assets

The Group's assets pledged for securing certain bank borrowings, certain bills payable, certain performance bonds and
tender bonds comprised a commercial property, certain bills receivable and pledged bank deposits, which amounted
to HK$97.2 million, HK$7.1 million and HK$90.4 million, respectively as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: a
commercial property and pledged bank deposits of HK$100.9 million and HK$56.9 million, respectively).

Contingent liabilities and capital commitments
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments of HK$0.2 million (31 December 2019: HK$1.7 million)
in relation to acquisition of property, plant and equipment and HK$22.2 million (31 December 2019: HK$9.4 million) in
relation to contribution to the capital of unlisted equity fund.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and interest rates and corresponding hedging
arrangements

The Group operates in various regions with different foreign currencies including MOP, Euro, RMB and United States
Dollars. As at 31 December 2020, all of the Group's bank borrowings were made in HK dollars at floating rates, and,
cash and cash equivalents held were mainly in HK dollars, MOP and RMB. As at the date of this annual report, the Group
did not implement any foreign currencies and interest rates hedging policies. However, the Group’'s management will
closely monitor the movement of both exchange rate and interest rate and will consider to hedge against any significant
aforesaid exposure when necessary.

Credit risk exposure

The Group’s major customers included reputable property developers, hotel owners and main contractors. During the
Year, the Group has experienced slowing payment pace from certain customers which led to an increase in expected
credit loss. Nonetheless, the Group will continue to monitor and tighten collection measures and continue to adopt a
prudent credit policies to deal with credit risk exposure. Save as disclosed below, the Group was not exposed to any
significant credit risk during the Year. The Group’s management reviewed the recoverability of trade receivables and
closely monitored the financial position of the customers from time to time with a view to keep the credit risk exposure
of the Group at a relatively low level.

Reference is made to the disclosure under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in the 2020
Interim Report of the Company. It was agreed by the parties that the subject main contractor (the “Main Contractor”)
would make payment of the agreed amount (the “Agreed Amount”) to Sundart Macau in relation to the subject
fitting-out projects. However, as the Main Contractor had failed to settle the Agreed Amount after two instalments of
payment since August 2018, Sundart Macau resumed the arbitration proceedings in December 2018 (the “Resumed
Arbitration”). Although the Resumed Arbitration was under progress, the Main Contractor settled four instalments
of payment in the Previous Year. On 24 June 2020, the Main Contractor and Sundart Macau signed the final account
statements and the Main Contractor settled the payment in accordance with the payment schedule stated on the final
account statements up to 29 March 2021. The Directors are of the opinion that the aforesaid trade receivables will not
materially affect the Group’s operating and financial performance.

There were no significant events subsequent to the Year and up to 29 March 2021 which had materially affected the
Group's operating and financial performance.
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The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, experience and the prevailing industry practice.
Discretionary bonuses and share options may also be granted to eligible staff based on individual performance in
recognition of their contribution and hard work. The Group also provides training programmes for its employees to
equip themselves with requisite skills and knowledge.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 1,704 full-time employees (31 December 2019: 1,632). The Group's gross
staff costs (including the Directors’ emoluments) increased by HK$28.1 million or 6.2% year-on-year to HK$482.0 million
for the Year (Previous Year: HK$453.9 million). The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in average number
of full-time employees by 8.8% during the Year.

Looking forward to 2021, Hong Kong's economy will continue to be influenced by the uncertainty caused by Sino-US
trade dispute and the outbreak of Covid-19. However, it is believed that the Hong Kong Government’s implementation of
the Covid-19 vaccination programme will facilitate the resumption of normal economic activities and cross border travel
between Hong Kong and the PRC and the recovery of certain industries, including hotel, tourism, food and beverage
and retail. Coupled with the strong housing demand and the persistent housing shortage, the real property market in
Hong Kong is expected to boost, which will in turn increase the demand for fitting-out works in Hong Kong.

In light of the stable pandemic situation of Covid-19 in Macau, the PRC Government has resumed issuing outbound
visas for visitors to Macau in order to resume Macau’s tourism industry. Meanwhile, the Macau Government has
been implementing the Covid-19 vaccination programme which is expected to control the pandemic and recover the
economy more effectively. As mentioned in the Macau’s 2021 Policy Address, the Macau Government emphasised
to promote the tourism industry with an aim to develop Macau into a world tourism and leisure centre. The Macau
Government will strengthen tourism cooperation between Macau and Henggin as well as promote the expansion of
Macau International Airport, with a view that Macau'’s tourism industry will recover soon. Going forward, it is expected
that the demand of casinos, shopping malls and hotels will rise, bringing opportunities for both construction and fitting-
out industries in Macau.

Under the effective control of the Covid-19 pandemic and driven by the PRC Government’s fiscal stimulus packages, the
PRC’s economy is experiencing a V-shaped recovery. According to the International Monetary Fund’s World Economic
Outlook, the PRC's GDP growth will increase to 8.1% in 2021. Furthermore, the PRC Government unveiled its “Dual
Circulation” strategy which aims actively expand domestic demand. With subsequent initiatives to boost consumption
and rapid economic recovery, it is expected to stimulate consumer demand and increase purchasing power of local
residents. This will significantly promote the rapid development of catering, shopping malls, tourism and other service
industries. By taking full advantage of the strategic opportunities of the PRC Government, the Group will actively expand
its business in the PRC and leverage its strengths to secure more large-scale and high-end fitting-out projects in hotels
and shopping malls.

Looking ahead, the Group will adopt a prudent approach to its business strategy and management in light of Covid-19
pandemic as well as the weak global economic recovery. While grasping the business opportunities from the
development of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and the implementation of Belt and Road Initiative, the
Group will closely monitor and keep up with the latest market trends with real-time adjustments to strategic initiatives
and operations. Leveraging its years of experience in providing fitting-out works, solid project management, well-
established long-term business relationships with its customers, stable cash flow and sound financial management, the
Group is committed to maximisation of returns for the Shareholders.
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Executive directors

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan (27&3#), aged 66, is the executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. He is
also a director of each subsidiary of the Company, excluded Sundart Beijing, #iZgIiZZER TIE2ERE A7 (Sundart
Chuangjian Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.*) (formerly known as /&2 &% T BR 2 7] (Shanghai Sundart
Chuangjian Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.*)), Jb RA#EE %X BR A7) (Beijing Sundart Real Estate Co., Ltd.*), Grow
Path International Limited, Peak Gain Development Limited, Glory One Investments Limited, Proper Wealth Group
Limited, Dongguan Sundart. Mr. Ng is one of the founders of the Group. He has been mainly focusing on the Group’s
daily operations since its commencement of business in 1986. He is also a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Ng left the Group in 1996 and re-joined in October 1998. Currently, Mr. Ng is primarily responsible for the overall
management of the business development of the Group. Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor degree of science in civil
engineering from the University of Calgary, Canada in June 1978. Mr. Ng is a non-executive director of Rykadan Capital
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2288).

Mr. Leung Kai Ming (R#87), aged 67, is the executive Director. He is also a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company, including Glory Spring Investments Limited, Sundart Products Limited, Sundart International Supply Limited,
Sundart International Supply (Macau) Limited, Sundart Living Limited, Sundart Timber, Dongguan Sundart and Sundart
Macau. Mr. Leung is one of the founders of the Group. He left the Group in July 2006 and re-joined in April 2009.
Currently, he is mainly responsible for overseeing the manufacturing, technical and engineering activities and sourcing
and distribution of interior decorative materials of the Group.

Mr. Xie Jianyu (if@%1), aged 41, is the executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company. He is also a
director of each subsidiary of the Company, excluded Sundart Beijing, i Al3EE R T2 AR A 7 (Sundart Chuangjian
Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.*) (formerly known as /8#:ZgI3EER TIEFBR 25 (Shanghai Sundart Chuangjian
Construction Engineering Co., Ltd.*)) and JbR#GEE % BR AR (Beijing Sundart Real Estate Co., Ltd.*). He joined the
Group in June 2012 and is mainly responsible for overseeing the financing, accounting and internal control, human
resource and administrative management of the Group. He is also a member of the Internal Control Committee. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Xie was the financial manager of cost control department of ATLANTIS Holding Norway AS
from March 2006 to December 2008, the chief accountant of Workz Middle East FZE from January 2009 to March 2010
and the financial director of Middle East & North Africa Group of J&H Emirates LLC from April 2010 to June 2012. Mr. Xie
obtained a bachelor degree in economics from Xiamen University (EFP9A&), the PRC in July 2001 and a master degree
of business administration from the University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong in November 2015. Mr. Xie became a certified
management accountant of the Institute of Management Accountants, the USA and a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in February 2008 and September 2014, respectively.

Mr. Ng Chi Hang (:R&1E), aged 45, is the executive Director. He is also a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company, including Sundart Timber, Sundart Macau, Grow Path International Limited, Peak Gain Development Limited,
Glory One Investments Limited, Good Encore Limited, Good Encore Development Limited, Honest Park Limited, Proper
Wealth Group Limited, In Wave Limited, Sundart Engineering Investments Limited, Acute Key International Limited,
Sundart Elite Base Engineering Limited (formerly known as Elite Base Engineering Limited), Metro Palace Limited,
Sundart Investments Limited, Sundart International Supply Limited and Sundart Living Limited. Mr. Ng joined the Group as
a quantity surveyor in Sundart Timber in September 2005 and is mainly responsible for overseeing the overall operation
of the Group in Macau. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ng was a quantity surveyor of Bridgewater & Coulton Limited from
April 2000 to September 2002. Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor degree of science in surveying from the University of Hong
Kong, Hong Kong in December 1998 and a master degree of science in construction and real estate from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, Hong Kong in November 2004. He became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
and professional member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors in February 2003. He has been a registered
professional surveyor in the quantity surveying division of the Surveyors Registration Board of Hong Kong since April
2005.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED

21



22

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive director

Mr. Liu Zaiwang (2|£,28), aged 49, is the non-executive Director and the chairman of the Board. Mr. Liu is primarily
responsible for the overall strategy, investment planning and human resource strategy of the Group. He is also a
member and the chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and Internal Control Committee. In February 1999, Mr.
Liu founded Jangho Co, the controlling shareholder of the Company, the A shares of which are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 601886), which is principally engaged in the industries of curtain wall, interior decoration
and design. He is the legal representative, director and chairman of Jangho Co and is responsible for the overall
management of Jangho Co. Mr. Liu also assumes several social positions including the member of standing committee
of the National People’s Congress of Shunyi District, Beijing, the PRC At RHIEEER ARRERAEEHZE) and the
vice-chairman of the board of the Northeastern University (21t X£2), the PRC.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung (FZ#f %), aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director. He is also
a member of each of the Audit and Remuneration Committees and the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Tam has
over 23 years of experience in international taxation. Mr. Tam was a tax partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 1997
to 2013. Since August 2014, Mr. Tam has been the managing tax partner of Mazars CPA Limited till August 2016 and
currently a tax partner of that firm. Mr. Tam is an independent non-executive director of Colour Life Services Group Co.,
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1778). Mr. Tam obtained a bachelor degree of engineering
and management from McMaster University, Canada in May 1976 and a master degree of business administration in
finance from the University of Toronto, Canada in November 1983. He became a member of the Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountant of Ontario, Canada in March 1981 and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in February 1993.

Mr. Huang Pu (&), aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2015. He is
also a member of each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Comm|ttees and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Huang worked in Huifu Investment Information Limited (i = 1% & & & AR A 71) from May 2001 to June
2003. Mr. Huang has worked as a general manager at Beijing Xicheng eru| Investment Fund Management Co., Limited
JtRERHeERBEREESERBR AR since 28 June 2018 Currently, Mr. Huang is also an investment consultant
in Beijing Dazhong Investment Co,. Ltd dt = AFEHBR A 7)). He obtained a bachelor degree in statistics, a master
degree in economics and a doctoral degree in finance from the Renmin University of China (F B A RKE2), the PRC in
July 1993, July 1996 and July 1999, respectively.

Mr. Li Zheng (Z=1E), aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2015. He is also
a member of each of the Audit and Nomination Committees. Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in legal practice. Mr.
Li was a partner of Guangdong Run & Race Law Firm (IR 1= A M=) from June 1996 to July 2010 and has been a
partner of Guangdong Shentiancheng Law Firm (B R XA ZEIETFT) since August 2010. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor
degree of laws from Jilin University (MK E2), the PRC in August 1983 and was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in June
1989. He was accredited as “Outstanding Young Lawyer (8757 & 4 £2RM)" by Zhejiang Provincial Department of Justice
(#/I#& 2)EEE) and Zhejiang Law Society (#/I & ZRMi#E) in October 1989. Mr. Li obtained the training certification
of independent director in March 2011, October 2013, July 2014, October 2015, September 2017 and August 2020,
respectively.
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Senior management

Mr. Chung Tsz Lung Jimmy (#F#E), aged 60, is the assistant general manager of Sundart Timber. He joined the
Group in August 2000 and is mainly responsible for overseeing the operation of the projects in high-end commercial
properties and planning and supervising the tender procedure and subcontracting. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chung
worked as quantity surveyor, contracts manager, assistant maintenance supervisor and project manager in various
companies in Hong Kong and Canada. Mr. Chung obtained a higher diploma and associateship in building technology
and management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic, Hong Kong (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
Hong Kong) in November 1982 and November 1983, respectively. Mr. Chung became a member of the Chartered
Institute of Building of the United Kingdom in March 1988.

Mr. Chan Chung Ming (FR{H88), aged 52, is the design manager of Sundart Timber. He joined the Group as a design
coordinator in September 2000. He is mainly responsible for overseeing the interior fitting-out works and monitoring
the progress of design application for the projects. Mr. Chan has over 25 years' experience in interior design and shop
drawing presentation of interior decorations for various types of buildings. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan was a
design coordinator in Sundart (CIL) Engineering Limited (£ &M TIEZFR A ) from July 1996 to July 1999. Mr. Chan
was awarded a certificate in building studies (architectural) from the Morrison Hill Technical Institute, Hong Kong in
August 1992 and graduated from the City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong in December 1996 with a higher diploma
in architectural studies. In 2009 he attended the I1SO 14001: 2004 introduction training in the HKQAA.

Mr. Chan Hak Man (Bf52 ), aged 65, is the senior project manager of Sundart Timber. He joined the Group in
November 2007 and is mainly responsible for organising the projects and monitoring the progress of the projects.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked for several companies, mainly in the areas of civil engineering and interior
design. Mr. Chan was respectively awarded a certificate in furniture design from the Technical Institute of the Education
Department of Hong Kong in July 1981 and an associate diploma in Applied Science (Building) from Sydney Institute of
Technology, Australia in December 1994. Mr. Chan ceased to be a senior management effective 16 October 2020.

Mr. Chiu Yeuk Ho (%), aged 60, is the senior project manager of Sundart Timber. He joined the Group as a
quality assurance officer in June 2004 and was promoted to project manager in April 2005. He is mainly responsible
for organising the projects and monitoring the progress of the projects. Mr. Chiu has accumulated over 34
years“experience in construction industry. He started his career as an assistant engineering in Shui On Construction
Company Limited FmZc Z2£ B R A 7)) from February 1984 to July 1987. After that, he was a project coordinator and
estimator of Arrow Aluminum Products Limited in Canada from 1987 to October 1992 and a project manager of Pentad
Construction Company Limited (K& EZEEGBR 2 5)) from November 1992 to March 1996. He was a project manager of
G+H Montage (Hong Kong Projects) Limited from July 1996 to October 1997. Mr. Chiu was a senior project coordinator
of Hyundai Engineering & Construction Co., Ltd from November 1997 to June 2004. Mr. Chiu obtained a bachelor degree
in geography-survey science from the University of Alberta, Canada in June 1984.

Mr. Chan Tze Chiu (BR¥ ), aged 58, is the senior project manager of Sundart Timber. He joined the Group as a
project manager in January 2008 and was promoted to a senior project manager in July 2013. He is mainly responsible
for organising the projects and monitoring the progress of the projects. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan was the
project manager of Enful Engineering Limited (3R € T2 B R A 7)) from August 1988 to August 1998. Mr. Chan obtained
a bachelor degree in civil engineering from Huagiao University (518 A 22), the PRC in July 1987.

Mr. Lau Mong Yu Alex (2/Z1n), aged 58, is the purchasing manager of Sundart Timber. He joined the Group as a
senior purchasing officer in August 2003. He is mainly responsible for coordinating all purchasing activities of the Group.
With over 25 years of experience in the procurement field, Mr. Lau is experienced in procuring professional timber
products and building and decoration related materials. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lau was the purchasing manager
of Hong Kong Teakwood Works Limited (& &R & AR A 7)) from March 1994 to October 2001.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED

23



24

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Chui Muk Heung (#R7R&), aged 52, is the Company Secretary and the chief accountant of the Company.
Ms. Chui joined the Group as a senior accountant in November 2003. She is mainly responsible for the company
secretarial, financial and accounting matters of the Group. Before joining the Group, Ms. Chui had worked as accounting
professional in various companies including construction materials firms and accounting firms. She was employed
as an accountant by K. Wah Construction Materials (Hong Kong) Limited (&4 (F8) AR A7) in July 1997 and
promoted to an assistant accounts manager in June 2001 and left in August 2002. Ms. Chui was accredited as an
accounting technician in November 1990. She became a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February 2000 and March 2000, respectively.

Mr. To Ka Wah Kevin (¥ %), aged 47, is the contracts manager of Sundart Timber. He joined the Group in March
2013 and is mainly responsible for participating in tender and quotation and handling contracts related matters. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. To had previously worked for several engineering companies and interior design companies.
Mr. To obtained a bachelor degree of building in construction economics from the University of Technology Sydney,
Australia in May 1998.

Mr. Man Pui Kwan (35i22), aged 64, is the managing director of Kin Shing and Sundart Project Management &
Consultancy Limited. He joined the Group as a commercial director in September 2010. He is mainly responsible for
the day-to-day management of Kin Shing. Mr. Man has over 40 years of experience in the field of quantity surveying
and contracts management. Before founding his own business in early 1990, Mr. Man was employed as an assistant
quantity surveyor in Rawlinson, Russell & Partners, a quantity surveying and construction cost consulting firm, in
July 1980 and was promoted to a quantity surveyor in March 1984 and held the position until July 1987. He was then
employed as a quantity surveyor in the Quantity Surveying branch of the Architectural Services Department of the Hong
Kong Government from July 1987 to March 1990. Mr. Man set up his own company, Forewin Consultants Limited, in
early 1990 and since then has been acting as an executive director, mainly responsible for its general operation. Mr.
Man obtained a bachelor degree of science in quantity surveying from the Thames Polytechnic, United Kingdom in June
1980. Mr. Man has been a professional associate of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors, a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors and a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators since January 1984, June 1997 and
September 1999, respectively.
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The Group has made continued efforts to incorporate the key elements of sound corporate governance into its
management structure and internal procedures. The Group is committed to high standards of ethics and integrity in all
aspects of business and ensuring that its affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and
for the benefits and in the interests of the Shareholders.

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance and has established
policies and procedures in compliance with the principles and the Code Provisions set out from time to time.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions during the Year, except for the following deviation:

Paragraph A.6.7 of the Code Provisions specifies that the independent non-executive Directors and other non-executive
Directors should attend general meetings of the Company to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of the Shareholders. The non-executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors were absent from the
last annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2020 due to travel restrictions imposed as the outbreak of
Covid-19.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Specific enquiry has been made with all the Directors and all of them confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. The Company has adopted the same
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the
Company. To the best knowledge of the Directors, there was no incident of non-compliance with the Model Code by
the relevant employees during the Year.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2020, the Board consisted of eight Directors comprising four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board during the Year and up to date
of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Leung Kai Ming

Mr. Xie lianyu (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Ng Chi Hang

Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung

Mr. Huang Pu

Mr. Li Zheng
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For biographical details of all Directors and senior management of the Group, please see “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management”. To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors,
there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships among the members of the Board
during the Year.

Functions of the Board and delegation of powers

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve the overall business plans and strategies of the Group,
develop and implement the corporate governance function and supervise the implementation of these policies and
strategies and the management of the Group. The Group has an independent management team, which is led by a
team of senior management with substantial experience and expertise in the Group's business.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the executive Directors and management of the Group with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the business/functions, while reserving certain key matters in
making strategic decision for its approval. When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration
functions to management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management needs to report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Board and general meetings

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Articles of Association. All minutes of the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient details of the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached.

Pursuant to paragraph A.1.1 of the Code Provisions, the Board should meet regularly and board meetings should be
held at least four times a year. During the Year, the Board held 11 meetings, four of which were regular meetings.

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the Audit Committee meetings, the Remuneration
Ccommittee meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings, the Internal Control Committee meetings and the general
meetings of the Company held during the Year was as follows:

Attendance/Number of meetings held
Internal 2020
Audit Remuneration Nomination Control Annual

Board Committee = Committee = Committee = Committee general
Directors meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings meeting

Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan 11/ N/A m”n N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Leung Kai Ming 1/ N/A N/A N/A N/A 1N
Mr. Xie Jianyu 11/ N/A N/A N/A 2/2 A
Mr. Ng Chi Hang /1 N/A N/A N/A N/A Al
Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu 5/11 N/A N/A 1/1 2/2 01
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung 5/11 2/2 M N/A N/A 7
Mr. Huang Pu 511 2/2 " " N/A 0/1
Mr. Li Zheng 5/11 2/2 N/A " N/A 01
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Directors’ appointment and re-election

In compliance with paragraph A.4.2 of the Code Provisions, all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be
subject to election by the Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment. By virtue of article 74(3) of the
Articles of Association, the Board shall have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional director. Any director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In compliance with paragraph A.4.2 of the Code Provisions, every director should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 75(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors which complies with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, among these three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required by Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. In accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive Directors a written confirmation of his and/or his immediate family members’ (as defined in
the Listing Rule) independence. The Company considers each of Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung, Mr. Huang Pu and Mr. Li
Zheng continues to be independent.

Chairman and chief executive officer

According to paragraph A.2.1 of the Code Provisions, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Liu is the chairman of the Board and Mr. Ng Tak Kwan is
the chief executive officer. Therefore, paragraph A.2.1 of the Code Provisions has been complied with.

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the liabilities in respect of legal action against the
Directors and officers that may arise out of its corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.

Continuing professional development

According to paragraph A.6.5 of the Code Provisions, all Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company would arrange and/or introduce some Director’s training courses for the Directors
to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.
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Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on or before the first occasion
of his appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as business and
market changes, to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

In order to ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant and to develop and refresh
knowledge and skills of the Directors, the Company has encouraged and funded suitable trainings for Directors to
participate in continuous professional developments. During the Year, the record of the trainings of the Directors, on a
named basis, is set out in the table below.

Receiving briefings
Reading journals, Attending from chief financial
written training courses, seminars, officer, Company

materials and/or conferences and/or Secretary and/or
Directors updates forums other executives

Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan v v v
Mr. Leung Kai Ming v v v
Mr. Xie lianyu v v v
Mr. Ng Chi Hang v v v
Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu v v v
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung v v v
Mr. Huang Pu v v v
Mr. Li Zheng v v v

Note:  All of the abovementioned trainings are relevant to the Group'’s business, the economy, corporate governance, rules and regulations, accounting,
financial or professional skills and/or directors’ duties and responsibilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference which are in compliance with the Code Provisions
and are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of the external auditor, review
the financial statements, provide advice in respect of financial reporting, review the risk management and internal
control systems, and the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung (the
chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Huang Pu and Mr. Li Zheng.

The Audit Committee has performed the following works during the Year and up to the date of this annual report:

o to review, inter alia, the annual results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, and the
interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2020;
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o to review of the Group’s risk management, internal control systems, financial reporting systems, and financial
and accounting principles and policies;

o to review of the audit plan for the year ended 31 December 2020;

o to recommend to the Board to re-appoint the external auditor at the 2020 and 2021 annual general meetings;
o to review the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company;

o to review the findings in the internal control report;

o to review the 2021 internal audit plan;

o to review the continuing connected transactions of the Group; and

o to review the compliance with the terms of the Amended Deed.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of reference which are in compliance with the Code
Provisions and are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group, review performance based remuneration and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Huang Pu (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung, and one executive Director, namely, Mr.
Ng Tak Kwan.

The Remuneration Committee has performed the following works during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report:

o to review, inter alia, the performance and remuneration package of the Directors;

o to review the Company'’s policy and structure for remuneration of all members of senior management of the
Group; and

o to approve the proposed remuneration of executive Directors (where Mr. Ng Tak Kwan abstained from voting in

determining his own remuneration) and senior management with effective from August 2020.

Pursuant to paragraph B.1.5 of the Code Provisions, the remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the Year is set out below:

Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) individual(s)
Up to 1,000,000 3
1,000,001 to up to 2,000,000 6

Further particulars in relation to Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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Remuneration policy for Directors and senior management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies
are formulated based on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s
profitability, the Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an incentive for their contribution to the
Group. The primary goal of the remuneration policy with regard to the remuneration packages of the executive Directors
is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive Directors by linking their compensation with performance
as measured against corporate objectives achieved. Each of the executive Directors is entitled to the remuneration
packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The Company's share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 1 December 2015. The Company
believes that by offering the eligible persons a shareholding stake in the Company, the interests of the eligible persons
and the Company will align and thereby the eligible persons will have additional incentives to improve the Company’s
performance. For details, please see “Directors’ Report — Share Option Scheme”.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of reference which are in compliance with the Code
Provisions and are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size, and composition of the Board, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on matters relating
to the appointment of Directors.

The Board is empowered under the Articles of Association to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or, as an additional member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed by the Nomination Committee
to the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are mainly based on the assessment of their professional
qualifications and experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship to the Shareholders
having regards to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to the Group's business.

The Nomination Committee comprises one non-executive Director, hamely, Mr. Liu (the chairman of the Nomination
Ccommittee), and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang Pu and Mr. Li Zheng.

The Nomination Committee has performed the following works during the Year and up to the date of this annual report:

o to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board as
well as the policy concerning the diversity of the members of Board;

o to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
o to review the policy for nomination of directors, performed by the Nomination Committee;
o to review the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to

select and recommend candidates for directorship;
o to review the achievement of the measurable objectives set out in the board diversity policy; and

o to determine the rotation of the Directors at the 2020 and 2021 annual general meetings.
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Nomination policy
The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship. Details of the nomination procedures and process and the selection criteria are disclosed below.

Nomination procedures and process

The Nomination Committee will review the structure, size and composition of the Board and make recommendations on
any proposed changes of the Board. The Nomination Committee will identify or select suitable candidates by referrals,
advertising or recommendations from an independent third agency with due consideration of the selection criteria (as
hereinafter mentioned). By conducting evaluation of candidates, including interviews, presentations, background checks
and third-party reference checks, the Nomination Committee will determine a candidate suitable for directorship and
make recommendations to the Board for appointment. The Nomination Committee will also review the performance of
retiring Directors and make recommendation to the Board for the continuance, re-appointment or removal of Directors.
The Board will have the final authority on determining the selection of nominees.

Selection criteria
While recommending any potential Board members or re-appointment of existing members to the Board, the
Nomination Committee shall consider a number of factors, including but not limited to the following:

skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the industry and the operations of the Group;
o diversity need in all aspects as set out in the board diversity policy;

o integrity, character, judgment, independence, corporate experience, length of service, potential conflicts of
interest and other commitments,

o commitment in respect of sufficient time to effectively discharge fiduciary duties of Directors,

o details of substantial interest in the Group and the relationship with the existing Directors;

o number of listed company directorship for independent non-executive Directors; and

o any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit to consider in the best interests of the Group and

the Shareholders.

Amendments to the nomination policy

In case of any amendments or clarifications issued by the relevant authorities, not being consistent with the nomination
policy, such amendments or clarifications shall prevail upon the nomination policy and the nomination policy will be
amended accordingly. The Nomination Committee has the power to amend the nomination policy from time to time.

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy since the Listing Date. A summary of such board diversity policy,
the measurable objectives set for implementing such board diversity policy, and the progress made towards achieving
those objectives are disclosed below.

Summary of the board diversity policy

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on merit, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversified perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Board's composition will be disclosed
in the corporate governance report annually in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Monitoring
The Nomination Committee has reviewed the achievement of the measurable objectives as set out in the board
diversity policy.

Diversity of the Board

The existing members of the Board are well experienced in the fitting-out and alteration and addition and construction
industry, investment and finance businesses. Some of them are professionals in project management, finance,
accounting and legal with extensive experience.

In view of the present size and complexities of the Group’s operations and the nature of the risks and challenges it
faces, the Nomination Committee considers the Company has struck a right balance of skills, experience, knowledge
and diversity among the present members of the Board.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the Group’s consolidated financial statements for each
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are responsible for taking
all reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities. A statement by auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the independent auditor’s report. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing
the consolidated financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditor's remuneration
During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect
of their audit and non-audit services was as follows:

HK$000

Audit service fee 1,970
Non-audit service fee (included interim financial review,

internal control review and tax compliance services) 965
Total 2,935

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has performed the following corporate governance duties of the Company in accordance with the written
terms of reference adopted by the Board during the Year and up to the date of this annual report:

o to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Company and make
recommendations;
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o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and management of
the Group;

o to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and

employees of the Group; and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report of the Company.

The Group has a risk management procedure and an internal control system that are characteristics of a clear
governance structure, policy procedure and reporting mechanism, to help the Group manage its risks in all business
segments.

The Group has established an organisational structure for risk management, composed of the Board, the Audit
Ccommittee, the risk management team, and the business departments, management and staff of the Group. The Board
assesses and determines the nature and extent of risks that the Group is willing to accept in achieving its strategic
objectives, and ensures that it establishes and maintains proper and effective risk management and develops a suitable
corporate risk culture. The Board also monitors the coordination among the staff, corporate strategy, risk, internal
control and compliance.

The Group has also developed and adopted a management system for corporate risks, which provides effective
solutions to risk identification, assessment and handling. For at least once a year, the risk management team identifies
the risks affecting the Group in realising its business objectives, works out ratings and rankings for such risks based on
their possibility and impact, formulates solutions and strategies to major risks, and designates the people in charge of
addressing such risks.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee
in on-going monitoring of the internal control systems of the Group by identifying deficiencies in the design and
implementation of internal controls and proposing recommendations for improvement.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board annually. The
Board had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
for the Year, including but not limited to the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation and changing
external environment; the scope and quality of management’s review on risk management and internal control
systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to result of
risk and internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status of
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure

to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or 10ss.
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The Group complies with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as
provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The Group
is committed to ensuring that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact,
or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

The Company values communication with the Shareholders. The Company uses two-way communication channels
to account to Shareholders for the performance of the Company. Enquiries and suggestions from Shareholders are
welcomed, and enquires may be put to the Board through the following channels to the Company Secretary:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at 19/F, Millennium City 3, 370 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong;

2. By fax number 2490 0685; or
3. By email at ir@sundart.com

The Company uses a number of formal communication channels to account to the Shareholders for the performance
of the Company. These include (i) the publication of interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting or
extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for the Shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board; (iii) updated key information of the Group available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company; (iv) the Company’s website offering communication channel between the Company and its Shareholders;
and (v) the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong serving the Shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters.

The Company aims to provide its Shareholders with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to providing clear, detailed, timely manner and on a regular basis information of the Group through the
publication of interim and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements.

The Company strives to take into consideration its Shareholders’ views and inputs, and address Shareholders’ concerns.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at least 20 clear business days’ notice
shall be given. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are available to answer the Shareholders’ questions on
the Group's businesses at the meeting. To comply with paragraph E.1.2 of the Code Provisions, the management of the
Group will ensure the external auditor to attend the annual general meeting to answer guestions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy on 1 December 2015 and will review it on a regular
basis to ensure its effectiveness to comply with paragraph E.1.4 of the Code Provisions.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also maintains a website (www.sundart.com) which
includes the latest information relating to the Group and its businesses.
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As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at
shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, various rights of Shareholders, including the right to propose resolutions, are
contained in the Articles of Association.

The summary of certain rights of the Shareholders is disclosed below.

Procedures for convening general meetings and putting forward proposals at general meetings
According to article 49 of the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the issued Shares carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice
convening the meeting is given, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves), or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may do so in the same manner but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Any requisition to convene an extraordinary general meeting or proposal to be put forward at the general meeting can
be addressed to the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company marked with the attention of the Board
or the Company Secretary or to the Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company at Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. The requisitionists
must state in their request(s) the objects of the extraordinary general meeting to be convened, and such request must
be signed by all the requisitionists. Upon receipt, the Company will verify the requisitionists” particulars and if the
request is in order, the Company will convene the extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

Procedures for propose a person for election as a Director
The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are posted on the Company’s website at
www.sundart.com.

The Board adopted a dividend policy in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and the Company to maintain adequate reserves to meet its future growth.

The Directors intend to declare dividends, if any, in HK dollars with respect to Shares on a per Share basis and will pay
such dividends in HK dollars. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval. The
Directors consider that dividends to be declared and paid will depend on a number of factors. The Directors intend,
subject to certain limitations, and in the absence of any circumstances which might reduce the amount available for
distribution whether by losses or otherwise, to distribute to the Shareholders approximately 40% of profits available for
distribution for the financial years. Such declarations of dividends, however, will only be recommended by the Directors
after taking into account, among other things, the Group's results of operations, cash flows and financial condition,
operating and capital requirements, prevailing economic climate, the amount of distributable profits based on Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the memorandum of association of the Company, the Articles of Association, the
BVI Companies Act, applicable laws and regulations and such other factors which the Directors may deem relevant.
There is, however, no assurance that dividend of such amount or any amount will be declared or distributed in any
financial year.
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The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time. The dividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend
at any time or from time to time.

There was no change to the Company's constitutional documents during the Year. The Articles of Association is
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company Secretary is Ms. Chui Muk Heung. Details of the biography of the Company Secretary are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Company Secretary reports to the chief executive officer directly and is responsible to the Board for ensuring that
the Board procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed as well as the Board activities are efficiently
and effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully appraised of the relevant corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the induction and professional development of the
Directors.

According to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the Year.
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The Group while focusing on its business development, is also strongly committed to corporate social responsibilities.

This ESG report provides details on the Group’s ESG performance during the Year, in compliance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

This ESG report covers the environmental and social issues identified in the materiality assessment for the Group's core
businesses with direct management control during the Year. Relevant information includes the management policies,
measures, compliance and ESG performance.

Unless otherwise specified, the businesses that have been covered since the first publication include fitting-out works
in Hong Kong and Macau; and alteration and addition and construction works in Hong Kong. As the Group continually
reviews the reporting scope with the principle of materiality, the Group has decided to expand it for the purpose of
transparency and completeness. The additional facilities to be included in this ESG report are as follows:

1. Manufacturing factory in Dongguan; and

2. Regional offices and project sites in Shenzhen, Shanghai and Beijing.

The reporting methodologies adopted herein strictly comply with the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency as stated in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality

Materiality assessment is carried out to identify material ESG matters related to the Group’s business, and to review
both direct and indirect implications to the Group's sustainable development and stakeholders. To address stakeholder
concerns, the contents of the ESG report are presented based on the materiality of ESG issues.

Quantitative

The Group refers to internationally recognised methodologies for specific calculations with measurable figures so that
the effectiveness of our policies and management systems set can be validated objectively and continuously. Please
refer to the relevant data points and their notes for details.

Balance
The Group discloses both positive and negative issues and performance regarding its business.

Consistency

Data presented in the ESG report was prepared using consistent methodologies over time unless otherwise specified
(either in text or in footnotes). Data for the Previous Year have been enclosed for comparison.
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ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group maintains its pledge to apply strong sustainability concepts and key principles of ESG in setting its business
strategies and operations.

The Group's risk management framework established by the Board determines the risk assessment, evaluation and
mitigation procedures that the Group applied to monitor risk exposure. It ensures the appropriateness and effectiveness
of the internal control measures and risk management plan. The risk management framework incorporates ESG factors
such as energy consumption, environmental pollution as well as health and safety into consideration.

Sundart’s sustainability management comes under the purview of the Board, formulating the governance strategies and
memorandum of ESG for the Group, continuously reviewing the ESG performance and bearing responsibilities for the
underlying matters. With the support of our management groups from different backgrounds, the Group can execute
strategies tailored for departments, manage daily ESG matters and closely monitor the progress of the ESG goals set to
evaluate the effects of measures taken. The Board approves the ESG report after the management review.

The Group has also established relevant dedicated teams, such as the safety management committee consisting of
staff with specialised management knowledge and professional background, to assist the management in dealing with
relevant matters.

The Board has stipulated the sustainability targets together with concrete action plans to its development roadmap in
each business unit, further enhancing the ESG work performance. During the Year, the objectives and targets in terms
of paper consumption rate, electricity consumption, customer satisfactory rate and accident rate had been satisfied and
reviewed during the management review meeting.

Established the Group's risk management framework
Formulated the governance strategies and memorandum of
The Board ESG for the Group

Continuously reviewed the ESG performance

Bore responsibilities for the ESG matters

Executed strategies tailored for departments
Managed daily ESG matters

Closely monitored the targets set

Evaluated the effects of measures taken

Management group

Assisted the management in dealing with ESG matters
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ENGAGEMENT OF STAKEHOLDERS

In order to determine the issues that are relevant and material to the business operations, the Group regularly engages
key internal and external stakeholders with diversified ways to ensure effective communications of the progress
to address their concerns and expectations, thus strengthen mutual trust between the Group and stakeholders. In
particular, the Group involved the stakeholder groups that are directly affected by its operations or potentially influence
its business, including staff, customers and owners, shareholders and investors, suppliers and business partners,
governments and regulatory authorities, as well as community organisations and others. The table below summarises
the communication mechanisms for different stakeholder groups:

Customers and owners Shareholders and investors
Work conferences and Customer hotlines and emails General meetings
counselling Sales services and after-sale Annual and interim reports
Training and staff activities return visits Announcements and
Performance assessment Questionnaires communications
: : Governments and Community organisations
Suppliers and business partners o
regulatory authorities and others
e Work conferences e Public forums e \/oluntary activities
e Inspections and appraisals e Government websites e Charitable services
e Industry meetings e Advertising and consulting e Collaboration with social
enterprise

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT ON ESG ISSUES

To prepare the ESG report, we have conducted extensive guestionnaire surveys to collect views from various internal
and external stakeholder groups. The assessment began with risks identified by our risk management framework and
supplemented with focused researches on peer companies, international standards and industry trends to identify
topics that could be impactful to our stakeholders.

Questionnaires were distributed to the stakeholder groups. Stakeholders assessed the ESG issues in the perspectives

of “importance to stakeholders” and “importance to business operations”. The individual assessment results were
summarised and consolidated on a matrix of the ESG issues.
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The ESG report presents 24 matters related to ESG issues and the related materiality matrix during the Year was as
follows:

Materiality Matrix

o> 00
o
o

o ®
%o

Importance to stakeholders

Importance to business operations

No. Material ESG Issues No. Material ESG Issues

Compliance Product
1 Compliance with laws and regulations 17 Supply chain environmental and social
responsibility risk management
Environmental 18  Selection and monitoring of suppliers
2 Emissions of pollutants and greenhouse gas and subcontractors
3 Disposal and management of waste 19 Environmentally friendly and safe raw
4 Resource recovery materials
5 Use of energy 20  Project quality and product safety
6 Use of water resources 21 After-sales services and handling of
7 Green building complaints
8 Environmental impact from construction 22 Protection of customer privacy and
9 Noise pollution intellectual property rights
10  Climate Change 23 Prevention of bribery, fraud and money laundering
Staff Community
11 Remuneration and benefits 24 Community investment

12 Equal opportunity and antidiscrimination
13 Occupational health and safety

14 Pandemic control

15 Development and training

16  Forbidding child or forced labour
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Prevention of bribery, fraud and money laundering

We owe our success to be one of the leaders in the industry in upholding the core value of “open-minded, responsible
and upright”. The Group strictly adheres to the principles of integrity and honest business operation and follows the
laws and regulations on preventing bribery, fraud and money laundering, including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Prevention and Suppression
of the Crime of Money Laundering in Macau, Anti-Unfair Competition Law in the PRC and other applicable laws and
regulations. The laws and regulations prohibit the dishonest operation or money laundering and forbid our employees to
accept or provide any benefit to influence commercial decisions. All employees are required to sign a Code of Conduct
on commencement of employment relations with the Group. Details are listed as follows:

1. Soliciting or accepting advantages including gifts, loans, fees, rewards, office facilities, employment, contracts,
services and discounts, etc. from customers, suppliers or any other person in connection with the Group'’s
interests is strictly prohibited. Acceptance of voluntarily given advantages may, however, be considered if:

i. the acceptance will not influence the decision and behaviour of the recipient;
ii. the recipient will not feel obliged to do something in return for the offer;
iii. the recipient can openly discuss the acceptance without reservation; and

iv. the nature and value of advantage (such as advertising or promotional gift) are such that refusal could be
regarded as unsociable or impolite.

2. Under no circumstances should the staff offer bribes or similar advantages to any person or company in order
to obtain/retain business, to acquire confidential business information or to obtain approval/certification of work
completion of the Group's projects, or to seek for any other return of personal advantages.

The Group partnered with the legal advisors to deliver trainings to the Board regarding proposed amendments to the
Listing Rules to expand its disciplinary powers and the range of sanctions available. For example, the Stock Exchange
proposed to introduce secondary liability to all relevant and participated parties for breaches of the Listing Rules. This is
to ensure that the Board is fully aware that the potential impacts of lowering existing thresholds for public statements
regarding individuals, introducing director unsuitability statements because of involvement in fraud such as bribery,
money laundering and misappropriation of funds against individuals, etc. Examples have been given as training
materials for participants to be fully aware of and understand the possible situations that could be.

The Group has established whistle-blowing procedures. Both internal parties and business partners can report
suspicious cases, including breach of the regulations or ethical misbehaviour, to the independent non-executive
Directors by email for follow-up actions. Whistle-blower’s identity and reported information are kept stringently
confidential.

The independent non-executive Directors will then conduct a detailed investigation of the case. If the misbehaviour is
valid, the reported person will be punished, or severe cases will be brought to relevant law enforcement authorities
if necessary. Based on the above measures, the Group has not identified any major non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to anti-bribery, fraud and money laundering as well as legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or employees during the Year.
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Project quality and product safety

The Group endeavours to provide our customers with high-quality and professional products and services. The Group
abides by the requirements of laws and regulations concerning product quality, including the Buildings Ordinance and
the Building (Minor Works) Regulations in Hong Kong, General Regulation of Urban Construction in Macau, Construction
Law in the PRC and other applicable laws and regulations. The contractors, as required by the relevant law and
regulations, shall all ensure that designated building professionals are responsible for carrying out particular tasks, and
sound supervision and quality assurance procedures are well established.

The Group has established standardised management procedures on fitting-out works, and alteration and addition
and construction projects, as well as defined roles and responsibilities of each department and the third parties. The
Group has obtained relevant licences and qualifications and engaged building professionals in accordance with the
employment requirements such as the nature, scale, and risks of a project. The Group has also adopted a standard
of quality inspection aligning with the latest requirement of local regulations and standards. Below summarises the
procedures taken during different phases of a project to ensure consistent delivery of qualified project:

Phase 2:
During the
construction

¢ Implement construction
specifications and quality
standards set

* Arrange supervisors to
monitor the construction
sites

o Check the quality of
semi-finished products as
and when necessary

Phase 3:
Post-construction

o Examine items stated on
the work completion and
acceptance list

* Revisit the customer
satisfactory level on the
project

In addition, the Group has established a set of comprehensive management systems, which have been awarded 1SO
9001 Quality Management System, I1SO 14001 Environmental Management System and ISO 45001 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System accreditations. Meanwhile, HKQAA performs an annual inspection to ensure that the
Group's management system complies with the relevant authentication requirements and standards. This enhances
customers’ confidence in the services and products of the Group. Based on the above measures, the Group has not
identified any material breach of the relevant laws and regulations in relation to product responsibility on the operations
during the Year.
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After-sales services and handling of complaints

The Group attaches great importance to the provision of sales services, and strictly complies with the laws and
regulations in relation to sales including the Supply of Services (Implied Terms) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Consumer
Protection Law in Macau, Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests Law in the PRC and other applicable laws and
regulations. According to the laws and regulations, customers shall reserve rights to acquire the product and service
information; while service providers shall provide prudential and technically reasonable services during the dedicated
period. The Group promises to offer comprehensive after-sales services to customers for warranty maintenance. Any
deceptive or unfaithful promotion or competition is strictly prohibited.

The Group pays high attention to customers’ experience by establishing a sincere, proper and truthful business practice,
which is vital in retaining customer interests. Our mission is to establish good and long-standing relationships with each
customer. We strive to provide the best services by paying attention to customers’ true needs. Several communication
platforms were established to deepen our understanding of customers’ actual needs in real-time.

The Group also seek customers’ feedback from after-sales returning visits to improve our products in the future
and thus to enhance the competitiveness of the products and services of the Group as a whole. Once receiving a
complaint, the Group will immediately mobilise the complaint handling mechanism, pursuant to which the complaints
will be mainly handled by staff in the customer service department or be jointly handled by such staff and the relevant
business personnel when necessary. Responsible personnel shall strive to offer satisfactory replies to customers and
take follow-up measures within a specified period. The Group will then conduct an investigation plan and formulate
corrective/preventive measures to enhance product and service quality in the future. Based on the above measures,
the Group has not identified any material breach of the relevant laws and regulations in relation to sales services and
there are no substantiated complaints relating to the provision and use of products and services that have a significant
impact to the Group during the Year.

Protection of customer privacy and intellectual property rights

The Group gets access to the personal data of customers in its fitting-out works, alteration and addition and
construction business, and manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials business. We
understand that it is of paramount importance to protect the privacy of customers and operate strictly in accordance
with the laws and regulations in relation to the protection of personal data of customers, including the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Personal Data Protection Act in Macau, Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests Law in the PRC and other applicable laws and regulations.

The laws and regulations require that personal data users must collect and use other persons’ personal data in a legal
and fair manner. The Group has taken all practicable steps to ensure that personal data is accurate and kept no longer
than necessary, such as establishing guidelines for restricting the use of personal data and requiring employees to
properly manage customers’ information in terms of collection, storage and use. Below are some details extracted from
the guidelines:

1. The employees of the Group are required to obtain consent from customers before they collect customers’
personal data;

2. The use of the data is only applicable to the business related to customers and any modification to or disclosure
of customers’ data without their approval is strictly forbidden; and

3. All confidential information including personal data of customers and intellectual property rights created or
obtained must be properly stored and encrypted. Only authorised business personnel can have access to them.
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The Group also values the protection of intellectual property rights for both itself and the third parties by continuous
reviews and standard employment contract with our employees to provide first line defence against confidential
information leakage without formal authorisation from the Group.

Based on the above measures, the Group has not identified any material breach of the relevant laws and regulations in
relation to customer privacy as well as intellectual property rights during the Year.

Selection and monitoring of suppliers and subcontractors

The Group has established sound policies and procedures for supplier and subcontractor management. The
procurement department and project team are responsible for conducting a comprehensive background check before
developing new supplier and subcontractor relations. They shall examine potential suppliers” and subcontractors'’
product quality, business compliance history, industry reputation, the functional fit of the product, etc. Suppliers or
subcontractors who have passed the assessments are placed on the approved list. Unless the customers require the
Group to engage suppliers or subcontractors nominated by them, the Group enters into contracts with the approved
suppliers or subcontractors to avoid product quality deficiencies and unnecessary risks. The Group assess suppliers
and subcontractors annually to understand their business conditions and performance on quality control with an aim to
establish long-term cooperation relationship with outstanding suppliers and subcontractors.

Supply chain environmental and social responsibility risk management

Environmentally friendly and safe raw materials

The Group has made controls and clear guidance on water, electricity, materials and other resources used in the
business operation to encourage the effective use of resources, and reduce the amount of solid waste generated during
the construction phase of a project. The Group, whenever possible, chooses environmentally friendly and safe materials
such as wooden materials certified by the Forest Stewardship Council and low volatile organic compound coatings to
minimise the environmental impact and ensure customers’ safety.

If necessary, the Group will use renewable and recyclable protective materials, such as eco-friendly plastic and recycled
paper. The Group has obtained the ISO 14001 certification. Through systematic checks and site visits, the Group had
implemented effective environmental management system in governing the use of office and site resources, such as
water, electricity and paper.

Supply chain management has been a key component in the quality control system of the Group. We attach great
importance in sustainable supply chain management to manage sustainability-related risks and meet the rising
demand for social responsibility from the customer side. The Group purchases materials from the suppliers designated
by customers who usually have strict requirements on materials, and a strong sense of environmental and social
responsibility. We also notify existing suppliers of the Group’s environmental and social standard during the annual
assessment, encouraging them to produce materials in a sustainable way.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Occupational health and safety

The Group has a long-standing commitment to maintaining a healthy and safe working environment for its staff as well
as meeting and exceeding the regulatory requirements as prescribed in the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
and the Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations in Hong Kong, General Regulation of Working Safety and Hygiene in the
Construction Industry in Macau, the Production Safety Law in the PRC and other applicable laws and regulations. These
laws require employers to supervise the safety of construction projects and manufacturing process, such as providing
clear guidelines and training on construction procedures, manual labour operations, accident prevention and first aid,
and work environment hygiene.

Pandemic control

In light of the Covid-19 outbreak, the Group has implemented necessary sanitary guidelines in order to mitigate any
risks of exposure. Preventive measures include but are not limited to supplying offices with sufficient sanitisation
equipment, compulsory mask wearing for employees and temperature checks for on-site visitors. Any event in which
confirmed cases are to be discovered within the office building, employees will be informed through communication
channels to stay home until a safer work arrangement can be announced. The Group highly prioritises the wellbeing
of our employees and is prepared to consistently implement and follow necessary preventive measures to combat
Covid-19.

The number of work-related fatalities for two consecutive years were as follows:

Number of work related fatalities of employees 0 0

The number of lost days due to work injuries during the Year were as follows:

Number of Lost days due to
work related injuries work injuries
Offices and Projects in Hong Kong and Macau 15 493
Offices and Projects in Beijing and Shanghai 3 131
Factory in Dongguan and office in Shenzhen 20 1,227

The Group has developed and implemented the following internal measures to safeguard the staff’s health and safety
by project planning, safety management, and training and publicity.
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Project planning

The Group has established a sound engineering safety management system to provide clear guidelines for safety
requirements of work processes. The project managers are required to introduce safety controls to minimise the
potential impacts of the risk events that may induce negative effects on the project flow. Effective time management
on construction is also important to avoid potential safety risks for meeting tight deadlines. The Group conducts risk
assessment of the projects to ensure those appropriate countermeasures and preventive actions taken for alleviating
the corresponding risks. The Group has provided employees with protective equipment, guidance books and safety
training to build employees’ occupational safety and health awareness. The Group also regularly arranges personnel to
inspect the construction sites and check if they are up to our internal safety standards. Whenever there is any safety
issues found, the site manager will be required to provide an immediate remedy with proper record management.

Safety management

The Group has set up a safety management committee to oversee the implementation of the health and safety policies
and to update the policies annually in response to industry trends, regulations and standards so as to ensure that the
Group maintains a high-level performance on health and safety. The Group has also engaged an accredited independent
safety inspector to check the Group's safety performance twice a year and report the results to the Labour Department.
By that, the Group can continuously modify and optimise the existing safety management.

Employee training and publicity

The Group has provided tailored training courses for different workers according to the characteristics and difficulties
of the projects. Any employee (including administrative staff) who enters the construction site must undergo relevant
health and safety trainings provided by the Group to reduce the occurrence of avoidable accidents. The Group also
conducts regular fire drills, introductions to the use of fire extinguishers and first-aid trainings to enhance employees'’
on-the-spot emergency knowledge so that the employees can work in a healthy and safe environment.

Based on the above measures, the Group has not identified any major non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations and standards in respect of health and safety during the Year.

Remuneration and benefits

The Group is caring for its talents and is committed to providing employees with excellent compensation and benefits.
The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating to staff remuneration and benefits, including the
Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Relations Law in Macau, Labour Law in the PRC and other applicable
laws and regulations. The laws and regulations ensure employees to receive basic remuneration and benefits, including
salaries, holidays, allowances, etc., and to enter into and terminate employment contracts in a fair and equitable
manner.

SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The average number of workforce by gender, age, function and geographical location during the Year were as follows:

Offices and Offices and Factory in
Projects in Hong Kong  Projects in Beijing Dongguan and
and Macau and Shanghai office in Shenzhen
Gender Male 298 624 468
Female 102 134 76
Age Below 30 62 340 57
31-40 117 287 164
41-50 105 92 216
51 or above 116 39 107
Function Management 4 3 3
Business operation 345 552 422
Operation support 12 166 84
Back office 39 37 35

The employee turnover rate (hote) by gender, age, function, and geographical location during the Year were as follows:

Offices and Offices and Factory in
Projects in Hong Kong Projects in Beijing Dongguan and
and Macau and Shanghai office in Shenzhen
# % # % # %
Overall 61 1.27% 200 2.20% 663 10.15%
Gender Male 43 1.20% 180 2.40% 642 11.42%
Female 18 1.47% 20 1.25% 21 2.30%
Age Below 30 20 2.71% 98 2.40% 212 30.86%
31-40 19 1.36% 71 2.06% 289 14.67%
41-50 11 0.87% 26 2.36% 146 5.62%
51 or above 11 0.79% 5 1.07% 16 1.25%
Function Management 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Business operation 57 1.38% 149 2.25% 635 12.54%
Operation support 0 0.00% 42 2.11% 24 2.37%
Back office 4 0.85% 9 2.01% 4 0.95%
#- total number of employees leaving employment
% - turnover rate
Note:

Employee turnover rate = monthly average employees in the specified category leaving employment/monthly average number of employees in the
specified category
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The Group will review the remuneration packages to make sure that they are competitive enough to attract best people
within the industry in respect of market terms and industry practice such as providing marriage, compassionate, study
and examination leaves on top of the entitled annual leaves. In addition, employees work according to the working time
stated in the employment contract. They can be compensated by means of alternative leave or overtime allowance
for their overtime work due to the prevailing department’s workload. For better care for employees, the Group also
implements a performance appraisal system which entails appropriate incentives and promotion to reward those with
good performance and contribution.

The grant of performance incentives is based on the financial performance of the Group and the performance of each
individual employee. The employee benefits of the Group include mandatory and voluntary provident fund schemes
and medical insurance. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration structure to ensure that employees receive
reasonable employment packages. The Share Option Scheme has been effective from 1 December 2015. The purpose
of the scheme is to reward employees for their past contributions, motivate them to optimise their future contributions
to the Group, maintain ongoing relationships with them and retain talents with experience and ability. The Group is
confident that the operation of the scheme can enhance the loyalty and team cohesion, realise mutual benefits and
help the Group achieve long-term success.

Based on the above measures, the Group has not identified any major non-compliance with the laws and regulations
relating to remuneration and benefits during the Year.

Development and training

The Group supports individual development of the employees to sustain their long-term growth. The Group helps its
employees realise their value through providing induction trainings, on-the-job trainings and external trainings. The
Group has a well-established training system to plan and arrange staff training activities in accordance with the date of
enrolment and the scope of his/her work.

On-the-job training

e Receive an induction e Formulate annual training e Provide training subsidies
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training in the first week
upon his/her arrival

Understand structure and
missions of the Group,
his/her role in achieving
the business objectives
and success of the Group,
human resource policies
of the Group, and standard
operating procedures

goals according to staff
needs

Aim to strengthen the
staff's professional
knowledge

Cooperate with the
professional team to

hold a series of training
activities (e.g. safety
supervision, occupational
health and safety, first-aid,
engineering management,
environmental protection,
ISO management)

to ensure staff's personal
developmental needs are
satisfied
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Plans above are designed with an aim to improve the staff's knowledge and professionalism. The Group endeavours to
provide strong support for the development of both the Group and talents and achieve a win-win situation.

The number and percentage of employees trained (note 1) on monthly basis per employee category during the Year
were as follows:

Number and percentage of employees trained (note 2)

Overall 1,711 8.38%
Gender Male 1,526 9.14%
Female 185 4.95%
Function Management 4 3.33%
Business operation 1,387 8.76%
Operation support 277 8.81%
Back office 43 3.21%
Notes:
1. Percentage of employees trained = monthly average number of employees trained in the specified category/monthly average number of

employees in the specified category.

2. During the Year, number and percentage of employees trained was affected because many face-to-face or classroom trainings were not
organised or provided due to strict pandemic considerations and controls.

The average training hours completed on monthly basis per employee category during the Year were as follows:

Average training hours completed per employee category

Overall 4.13
Gender Male 4.64
Female 1.85
Function Management 1.64
Business operation 4.32
Operation support 434
Back office 1.58
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Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination

The Group is proud of being an employer who believes in equal opportunities. “People-oriented” is not only the
ultimate human resource management philosophy of the Group, but it is also the cornerstone of the Group's long-term
development.

The Group is committed to creating a diversified environment by adopting non-discriminatory hiring and employment
practices with the principle that no employees and job applicants should be treated less favourably because of his/
her race, colour, religion, sex, sexual orientation, age, etc., in any form of job applications, internal transfers and
promotions.

Relevant labour laws and regulations, including the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Relations Law in
Macau and Labour Law in the PRC, also require the employers to build up a workplace with equal opportunities and
respect for the staff. Based on the measures above, the Group has not identified any major non-compliance with the
laws and regulations relating to equal opportunities and anti-discrimination during the Year.

Forbidding child or forced labour
The Group strictly complies with the relevant requirements stated in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC labour laws.

All job applicants must conform to the age requirement specified by local laws. The Group absolutely forbids the
recruitment of child labour and thus formulates a comprehensive procedure of talent selection and recruitment such
as requiring the candidate to provide relevant identification documents. The Group conducts open recruitment for
hiring employees based on the job requirements of different positions to select best-fit candidates. The Group employs
staff based on fair, open and voluntary principles, which means labour being forced to work by means of physical
punishment, abuse, involuntary servitude, peonage or trafficking is strictly forbidden. The Group avoids collaboration
with suppliers and subcontractors having a known history in employing child or forced labour in their operations.

If any cases of child labour and use of forced labour are discovered in our operations, the Group will reserve the rights
to terminate the labour relationship immediately. The Group will also investigate, review and discuss with the Board to
prevent it from happening again. With regular inspections, the Group has not identified any major non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations in respect of labour standards during the Year.

Having the discipline and heart in operating as a responsible fitting-out contractor, the Group highly prioritises
environmental, social and governance factors in every aspect. The Group believes that protecting the environment
relies on the combined effort given by employees as well as the cooperation from frontline staff to the management to
mitigate any negative impact on the environment. In order to continuously advancing the Group's green development,
the Group has formulated various policies to properly manage the emissions of waste, noise, exhaust gas, dust, sewage
and greenhouse gas in full compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations. During the Year, the
Group has not identified any major non-compliance with the laws and regulations relating to the environment.
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Environmental impact from construction

Disposal and management of waste

The fitting-out and construction business and manufacturing process of the Group generate various kinds of wastes.
The Group deals with the wastes strictly according to the Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong Kong, Environmental Law
in Macau, the Environmental Protection Law in the PRC and other applicable laws and regulations. The Group's primary
wastes are protective materials for fitting-out works, as well as paper and toner cartridges used in offices. The amount
of non-hazardous wastes for two consecutive years were as follows:

Type of non-hazardous wastes (notes 1,2 and 3)

Protective materials for fitting-out works (note 4) Ton 33.02 335.89
Paper (note 5) Ton 3,006.76 -
Paper (fitting-out works in Hong Kong and Macau only) Ton 14.21 17.42
Toner cartridges (note 6) Ton 0.31 0.29
Notes:
1. Although paints and solvents were used in the fitting-out works of the Group, only a limited amount of them were disposed of. Therefore,

disclosure of the data of such waste was not applicable.

2. The Group did not generate any hazardous wastes for the fitting-out works for both years.
3. Disclosure for the data of packaging materials was not applicable, as the Group does not consume packaging materials during fitting-out works.
4. The protective material consumption for fitting-out works in Hong Kong and Macau and its waste production amount vary with the nature of the

projects in place and client requirements. Also, the sharp decrement during the Year was mainly because the production of wooden pallets and
furniture used for the construction projects were outsourced to contractors, thus the relevant protective materials consumed were not within
our reporting scope.

5. The figures included the paper consumption for projects works in Hong Kong and Macau, the offices in Hong Kong, Macau, Beijing, Shanghai and
Shenzhen as well as the factory in Dongguan.

6. The figures included the toner cartridge consumption in Hong Kong and Macau only.

As stated in the Group's Waste Management Guideline, it requires employees to manage and dispose of wastes in strict
compliance with the requirements therein. For non-hazardous wastes, they should be sorted and stacked at assigned
areas for further treatment. Chemicals on the construction site should be stored in sealed containers, placed in the
designated locations, and be disposed of in a legal manner by third parties instead of direct disposal in sewers. These
measures are to ensure no significant impacts resulted from our business operations.
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Use of energy
The Group’s business mainly uses electricity as the source of energy. The electricity consumption for two consecutive
years was as follow:

Projects (note 1) Offices (note 2) Dongguan Factory
Amount Intensity Amount Intensity Amount Intensity
(note 3) (note 3) (note 3)
2020 kwh 268,883 6.65 718,735 78.76 4,570,760 65.30
(note 4) (note 4) (note 5) (note 5)
2019 kwh 522,973 13.34 258,174 69.81 - -
Notes:
1. Projects included the sites and site offices consumption of alteration and addition and construction works in Hong Kong, and site office

consumption of fitting out projects in Hong Kong. Electricity usage of fitting out project sites in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC were not included
in the statistics as the electricity consumed were supplied directly by the main contractor or landlord and the relevant usage was not provided to
the Group.

2. Offices included Hong Kong head offices, Macau regional offices as well as regional offices in Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen which were newly
added into the scope during the Year.

3. The intensity figures were reported in kilowatt hour ("kKWh") per square meter of gross floor area.

4. As the Group manages various projects during the Year, and the time span of projects differs from one another, the electricity consumption of
projects varies considerably with the Previous Year.

5. The increase in electricity consumption amount and its intensity of offices was due to the addition of Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen offices.

The Group believes that it is fundamental to be environmentally responsible during the project execution as well as in
the general operation. Therefore, the Group has set Guidelines for Resource Management to minimise its environmental
impacts caused by electricity consumption; for example, requiring employees to follow the initiatives on resource
savings and using certified energy-efficient appliances and equipment to manage the potential risks bought by climate
change. Employees should change the settings for a power-save mode or set the air-conditioned room temperature
between 20°C and 25.5°C.

Employees should turn off unnecessary indoor lights beyond normal office hours. They should also set the machines
to power off after being idle for a certain period. Energy-efficient exterior lighting shall be used at construction sites.
The Group prioritises energy-efficient lighting equipment, machines and fixtures in procuring new machinery. The
responsible personnel also performs regular inspection and preventive maintenance on machinery and equipment to
reduce the fatigue and distraction risk in the operations, and to maximise energy efficiency as well.
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Emissions of pollutants

The Group scrupulously abides by the air quality laws and regulations, including the requirements of the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance and the Air Pollution Control (Construction Dust) Regulation in Hong Kong, Guidelines for Site
Pollution Control in Macau, Air Pollution Prevention and Control in the PRC and other applicable laws and regulations.
The Group has no significant direct exhaust emissions (note) in its operation and takes the following measures to ensure
that the Group’s operations comply with relevant environmental requirements.

In the process of fitting-out works, volatile organic compounds, chemicals that readily evaporate into the air and emitted
from paints; and other finishes would stink and affect the indoor air quality. To reduce the level of concentration of the
volatile organic compounds at the fitting-out site, the Group strives to recommend the customers to choose low volatile
organic compound coatings during the planning phase, thereby reducing potential hazards or risks to both human
health and the environment. In addition, unused volatile finishes are required to store in tightly sealed containers.

During construction works, the Group regularly measures the concentration of air pollutants to monitor compliance.
Adeqguate ventilation should be maintained to prevent odours accumulation in the air, and special collections of
construction residue should be planned at construction sites as well. The Group does not own large-size transport
vehicles but requires its material suppliers to use ultra-low sulphur diesel to reduce sulphur dioxide generated from
shipment. The Group also uses the power supply from the power companies wherever possible to reduce the direct
burning of diesel at construction sites, eliminating the possibility of generating unwanted pollutants during incomplete
combustion.

In addition, the Group adopts a series of dust control measures to reduce the impact on the surrounding environment,
including:

1. Spray water continuously during excavation, drilling, cutting, polishing, crushing etc.;

2. Provide cleaning equipment at the exit of the transport vehicles, including high-pressure water guns to wash the
body and wheels of the transport vehicle before leaving the construction site;

3. Cover the stockpile of dusty materials with impermeable coating or store them in sheltered areas,

4. Set hoarding of not less than 2.4 metres high from ground level along the boundary of the construction site
adjoining the street or public area;

5. Collect pulverized fuel ash concrete or any other dusty materials collected by filtering devices in enclosed
containers; and

6. Conduct regular inspection on the dust concentration level at the construction site to evaluate the effectiveness
of dust control measures.

Note:

Disclosure of direct exhaust emissions data was not applicable as significant gas emissions were not directly generated in the Group’s operating activities.
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Emissions of greenhouse gas

The Group regularly monitors and reviews greenhouse gas emissions in order to manage our impacts on climate
change effectively. The Group’s greenhouse gas sources are mainly from electricity consumption. The greenhouse gas
emitted by the Group (note 1) for two consecutive years was set out as below:

Carbon dioxide equivalent

Scope 2 Scope 3 Total Intensity

(note 2) (note 3) (note 4)

2020 (note 5) Ton 2,919.01 94.42 3,013.43 0.03
2020 (projects and offices in Ton 303.65 3.83 307.48 0.01

Hong Kong and Macau only) (note ¢)

2019 (projects and offices in
Hong Kong and Macau only) Ton 451.29 4.46 455.75 0.01

Notes:

1. The data did not include the energy consumption that the Group cannot directly manage and control. The greenhouse gas emission is calculated
with reference to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (“GCP”) published by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development and the World
Resources Institute, and the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs of the Stock Exchange. The Group did not consume resources that
contribute to GCP Scope 1 emissions.

2. The figures were resulted from purchased electricity.

3. The figures were resulted from electricity used for processing fresh water.

4. The intensity figures were reported in tons of carbon dioxide equivalent per square meter of gross floor area.

5. The figures included the carbon dioxide emission for projects in Hong Kong and Macau, the offices in Hong Kong, Macau, Beijing, Shanghai and

Shenzhen as well as the factory in Dongguan.

6. As the Group managed various projects during the Year, and the time span of projects differed from one another, the carbon dioxide emissions
of projects varies considerably with the Previous Year.

For measures on reducing greenhouse gas emissions, please refer to the paragraph headed “Environmentally friendly
and safe raw materials” above.

Resource recovery

Construction wastes should be classified carefully to sort out all recyclable wastes, which could be treated by recycling
agents for upcycling whenever possible. The Group has the responsibility to contact with qualified transportation
companies to transfer other non-recyclable construction wastes to a designated landfill in accordance with local laws.

The Group also encourages office staff to reduce wastes, including:

1. Reuse old copies by copying or printing on the blank side of the used paper,

2. Adopt appropriate fonts or downsizing models to reduce the number of copies;
3. Make use of electronic media for internal and external communication,

4. Not to print the cover page of the document if unnecessary;
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5. Reuse stationery, plastic binding ring, envelopes and other materials whenever possible until they are completely
consumed,;

6. Encourage the use of rechargeable batteries;

7. Recycle packaging boxes and fillings; and

8. Install air-conditioners and refrigerators with environmentally friendly refrigerants.

Use of water resources

The Group is aware of the reduction of water resource availability due to climate change. We must give priority to water
resources management before it critically affects our business operations in the future such as taking precautionary
measures internally and externally. The Group is committed to cultivating the employees’ awareness of water usage in
accordance with the principle of “use only when necessary”. The Group sourced water from the municipal supply and
had no issue in sourcing water fit for purpose.

The wastewater at the construction sites is reused in cleaning and dust suppression after passing through sewage
treatment facilities when feasible to reduce overall drinkable water consumption. Employees should shut down the
futile watering sprinklers to reduce water consumption and check regularly to prevent excessive water usage.

The Group's water consumption for two consecutive years was as follow:

Year Unit Volumes Intensity
(note 1)
2020 (note 2) m? 92,745 0.91
2020 (alteration and addition and
construction works in Hong Kong only) (note 3) m? 5,227 0.17
2019 (alteration and addition and
construction works in Hong Kong only) m3 7,176 0.19
Notes:
1. The intensity figures were reported in cubic meter per square meter of gross floor area.
2. The figures included the water consumption volume for fitting out and alteration and addition projects in Hong Kong, and the factory in
Dongguan.
3. As the Group managed various projects during the Year, and the time span of projects differed from one another, the water consumption of

projects varies considerably with the Previous Year.

The Group strictly complies with sewage disposal laws and regulations, including the Water Pollution Control Ordinance
in Hong Kong, Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law in the PRC and other laws and regulations, to prohibit the
direct discharge of sewage and pollutants to open water. The Group has no significant direct effluent discharges in its
operation.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED

55



56

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group has also established a Sewage Management Guideline to regulate the procedures on Group's sewage
treatment. The Group installs sewage purification system at the construction sites and stipulates that untreated sewage
(such as mud sewage) shall not be discharged directly into the stormwater drains. It must be filtered and processed
in the sedimentation tanks before being discharged into sewers. Regular cleaning and maintenance program is
implemented for drainage systems and U-channels to ensure the proper functionality. Currently the water resources
supply at the production bases of the Group comes primarily from local municipal water supply. We did not encounter
any problem in sourcing suitable water supply.

Noise pollution

During construction and fitting-out works, machinery operations and some of the construction processes create
disturbing or unwanted sound, which may create physical and psychological health consequence to people nearby.
Accordingly, the Group firmly adheres to the Noise Control Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Noise Law in Macau and Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise Pollution in the PRC and
other applicable laws and regulations. The Group has established Noise Management Guidelines to reduce the noise
generated from machinery or electrical appliances and reduce its impacts on the neighbourhood. Below are some
measures taken to reduce noise pollutions incurred, which include:

1. Maximise the use of quiet mechanical tools whenever possible, such as “Quality Powered Mechanical
Equipment” approved by the Environmental Protection Department;

2. Place tools producing higher noise levels, such as pumps, further away from the noise-sensitive areas such as
homes, schools and hospitals;

3. Improve construction processes to reduce unnecessary knocking and cutting works;

4. Prohibit construction activities with high noise intensity during early morning and night hours;

5. Install noise barriers near noisy mechanical equipment;

6. Shut down machinery and equipment not in use from time to time and conduct regular maintenance and repair

for equipment; and

7. Monitor noise intensity regularly and apply for a valid Construction Noise Permit for construction works to
ensure compliance with the Noise Control Ordinance.

Green building

The Group continues to incorporate the green features into the designs and product development to guarantee its
overall efficiency while at the same time minimising the impacts to the environment. We are dedicated to adopting best
practices in constructing buildings, also committed to helping the project owner achieve the highest possible ratings
under Hong Kong Building Environment Assessment Method (“BEAM") Plus certification for new building projects.

The Group aims at striking an effective balance between land usages and outdoor environment and putting
environmental conservation concepts such as energy and water-saving as well as waste reduction into real practices.

In the future, the Group will also continue to expand its team and be committed to attracting more talents with
qualifications of green building, energy and environmental design, such as LEED Pro, BEAM Pro and BEAM PIlus, in order
to make a concerted effort to incorporate the sustainable development and latest green technology into our customers’
projects.
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Climate change

The Group is highly concerned about its business impact on the environment and natural resources. We are committed
to environmental protection and climate change mitigation. In addition to compliance with the relevant regulations
and universally accepted standards of international conduct urging the need for taking appropriate actions in climate
change, the Group has also gradually assimilated the climate change concepts into internal management and project
implementation process.

With a view to minimising the environmental impacts, the Group regularly monitors the potential impact of its business
operations onto the environment. Closely monitoring the greenhouse gas emissions during the operations, we are
committed to identifying ways to increase reduce the environmental impacts at sources.

The Group believes in maintaining exceptional corporate ethics as it holds an essential part in defining the Group's
values and principles. Through the continuous hard effort of “Sundart Cheers,” the Group is able to constantly
contribute, create positive impacts to society and “bring communities together”.

“Sundart Cheers"” prides itself in taking the initiatives to arranging charitable fundraising events, purchasing charitable
gifts from social enterprises, organising other community services and commercial activities. Due to the strict pandemic
considerations and controls, “Sundart Cheers” would organise only one staff activity — Turkish Mosaic Lamp Workshop
with around 20 participants before the serious outbreak of the pandemic.

“Sundart Cheers” has also been adopting a proactive approach to initiate collaboration with the Methodist Centre to
provide elderly outreaching services since 2011 with the aim in improving the quality of life of the elderly and bringing
warmth to them. We took a lead in sponsoring events organised by the Community Chest with focuses on handicapped
people and the underprivileged as a way of encouraging our management and staff to have a continued practice in civic
participation, helping minority group in society to overcome their disadvantages.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 72.

The Directors proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK8 cents per Share for the Year to the Shareholders on the
register of members of the Company on 11 June 2021, amounting to approximately HK$172.7 million.

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and the discussion on the Group’s future business
development are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
and the description of principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and key financial performance indicators are
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, discussions on the
Group's relationships with key stakeholders, environmental policies and performance and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are as follows:

Relationship with key stakeholders
The Group’s success also depends on the support from key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
subcontractors and suppliers.

Employees

Employees are regarded as important and valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource
management is to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career development and
progression by appropriate trainings and by providing opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

Customers

The Group’s principal customers are property developers, hotel owners and main contractors in Hong Kong, Macau
and the PRC. The Group provides professional and quality services in fitting-out business whilst maintaining long term
profitability, business and asset growth. The Group maintains good reputation and long-term working relationships with
its customers in the provision of product re-engineering and pre-fabrication technique for sizeable fitting-out projects to
meet its customers’ requirements.

Subcontractors and suppliers

The Group firmly believes that its subcontractors and suppliers are equally important in cost control and increasing its
bargaining power on procurement of materials, which further secures its competitiveness when bidding for tenders.
The Group proactively communicates with its subcontractors and suppliers to ensure they are committed to delivering
high-quality and sustainable products and services. Unless the customers require the Group to engage subcontractors
and suppliers nominated by them, the Group will select subcontractors and suppliers from its approved lists of
subcontractors and suppliers. In addition, during the continuance of the contracts with the subcontractors, the Group
will provide them with its internal guidelines on safety and environmental issues and require them to follow. The Group
effectively implements the subcontractor assessment process to monitor the performance of its subcontractors by
conducting regular site visits, evaluation on the performance of the contract and other measures.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group believes that its business also depends on its ability to meet the customers’ requirements in respect of
safety, quality and environmental aspects. To meet the customers’ requirements on safety, quality and environmental
aspects, the Group has established safety, quality and environmental management systems. Through the systematic
and effective control of its operations, compliance with safety, quality and environmental requirements can be further
assured. The Group believes that its certifications to ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 enhance its public image and credibility
and also help the Group improve its customers’ confidence in its services. Details of the Group's environmental policies
and performance are set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group mainly undertakes fitting-out works in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, alteration and addition and
construction works in Hong Kong and the operations of manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative
materials are primarily carried out in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. The Directors confirmed that during the Year, the
Group had obtained all the registrations and certifications required for its business and operations and had complied
with the applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC in all material respects.

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 154.

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the
Articles of Association amounted to HK$1,338.0 million.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 75 and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Leung Kai Ming

Mr. Xie lianyu (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Ng Chi Hang

Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung

Mr. Huang Pu

Mr. Li Zheng
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In accordance with article 75 of the Articles of Association and pursuant to paragraph A.4.2 of the Code Provisions, Mr.
Huang Pu, Mr. Li Zheng and Mr. Xie Jianyu shall retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM.

Information regarding the Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS' PROFILES
For details of the Directors’ profiles, please see “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his and/
or his immediate family members’ independence, pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and has duly reviewed the
confirmation of independence of each of the Directors. The Company, based on such confirmations, considers that all
of the independent non-executive Directors continue to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interests in

Name of Director Nature of interests/capacity Shares held the Company

Mr. Liu (note) Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,845,107 59.35%
Note:

These Shares were indirectly held by Jangho Co through Jangho HK and Reach Glory. As Jangho Co was approximately 27.35% beneficially owned by
Beijing Jiangheyuan (a company which was 85% and 15% beneficially owned by Mr. Liu and his spouse, Ms. Fu, respectively) and approximately 25.07%
beneficially owned by Mr. Liu, Mr. Liu was deemed to be interested in such Shares under the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company, the persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) or entities who had an interest
or a short position in the Shares and the underlying Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would fall
to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

Approximate
percentage of
Name of substantial Number of interests in
shareholder Nature of interests/capacity Shares held the Company
(Note 1)
Reach Glory Beneficial owner 1,280,845,107 59.35%
Jangho HK (note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,845,107 59.35%
Jangho Co (note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,845,107 59.35%
Beijing Jiangheyuan (note 4)  Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,845,107 59.35%
Ms. Fu (note 5) Interest of spouse 1,280,845,107 59.35%
Caiyun International Beneficial owner 353,815,347 16.39%
Yunnan Health & Cultural Interest in controlled corporation 353,815,347 16.39%
Tourism (note 6)
Citigroup Inc. Beneficial owner 115,182,000 5.34%
ICBC International Asset Beneficial owner 114,946,000 5.33%

Management Limited

Notes:

1. 2,158,210,000 Shares were in issue as at 31 December 2020.

2. Reach Glory was beneficially wholly-owned by Jangho HK and therefore Jangho HK was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Reach
Glory under the SFO.

3. Jangho HK was beneficially wholly-owned by Jangho Co and therefore Jangho Co was deemed to be interested in the Shares indirectly held by

Jangho HK through Reach Glory under the SFO.

4. Ms. Fu, the spouse of Mr. Liu, was the sole director of Beijing Jiangheyuan. The board of directors of Jangho Co was controlled by Beijing
Jiangheyuan and therefore Beijing Jiangheyuan was deemed to be interested in the Shares indirectly held by Jangho Co through Jangho HK and
Reach Glory under the SFO.

5. Ms. Fu is the spouse of Mr. Liu and was therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares indirectly held by Mr. Liu under the SFO.

6. Caiyun International was beneficially wholly-owned by Yunnan Health & Cultural Tourism and therefore Yunnan Health & Cultural Tourism was

deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Caiyun International under the SFO.
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The Company's share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 1 December 2015 for the purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed
or will contribute to the Group. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant options to eligible persons,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for the Shares. Eligible persons of the Share Option
Scheme, amongst others, include any executives, any employee (including proposed, full-time or part-time employee), a
director or proposed director (including an independent non-executive director), a direct or indirect shareholder of any
member of the Company and its subsidiaries and an associate of any of the aforementioned persons.

The Board shall set out in the offer the terms on which the option is to be granted. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. No
options shall be granted under the Share Option Scheme at any time if such grant shall result in the scheme limit being
exceeded.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 200,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 9.27% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of this annual report. The Company may seek
approval of its Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing such 10% limit.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each eligible person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
for the time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

Any grant of options to any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder (as such term as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company, or any of their respective associates under the Share Option Scheme is subject to the prior
approval of the independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive Directors who or whose
associates is the grantee of an options). Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the Shares in issue on the date of such grant; and (i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of HK$5.0
million, such further grant of the options shall be subject to prior approval of the Shareholders with such person and his
associates abstaining from voting in favour of general meeting.

An offer for the grant of option must be accepted within 28 days from the offer date. Options granted shall be taken up
upon payment of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be exercised at any time from the date
which option is deemed to be granted and accepted and expired on the date as the Board in its absolute discretion
determine and which shall not exceeding a period of 10 years from the date on which the share options are deemed
to be granted and accepted but subject to the provisions for early termination thereof contained in the Share Option
Scheme.
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The exercise price is determined by the Board, and shall not be less than whichever is the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer; and (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from 1 December 2015.
There had been no share option granted since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, and no share options were
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Year. No share options were outstanding at the beginning and the
end of the Year.

During the Year, neither the Company, any of its subsidiaries, nor a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate
and none of the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for the securities
of the Company, or had exercised any such right during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the Year.

Save as the transactions disclosed below, none of the related party transactions set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions or connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.

Continuing connected transactions

Business cooperation framework agreement with Jangho Co

Jangho Co is a substantial shareholder of the Company and is therefore a connected person of the Company within
the meaning of the Listing Rules. Mr. Liu is the legal representative, director and chairman of Jangho Co which was
approximately 27.35% beneficially owned by Beijing Jiangheyuan (a company which was 85% and 15% beneficially
owned by Mr. Liu and his spouse, Ms. Fu, respectively) and approximately 25.07% beneficially owned by Mr. Liu as at 31
December 2020.

On 29 May 2019, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a framework agreement on
mutual provision of services (the “Business Cooperation Framework Agreement”) with Jangho Co (for itself and
on behalf of its subsidiaries, but excluding the members of the Group) (“Jangho Group”), for a term commencing
from 29 May 2019 and ending on 31 December 2021. Under the Business Cooperation Framework Agreement, Jangho
Group agreed to subcontract fitting-out works in relation to the projects undertaken by Jangho Group to the Group. The
maximum annual transaction amounts for the three years ending 31 December 2021 are HK$30 million, HK$40 million
and HK$40 million, respectively (“The Group’s Annual Caps”). During the Year, the aggregate transaction amount
under The Group’s Annual Caps was HK$11.8 million.

Meanwhile, the Group agreed to subcontract specialised works and/or technical advisory services in relation to the
projects undertaken by the Group to Jangho Group under the Business Cooperation Framework Agreement. The
maximum annual transaction amounts for the three years ending 31 December 2021 are HK$70 million, HK$100 million
and HK$100 million, respectively (“Jangho Group’s Annual Caps”). During the Year, the aggregate transaction amount
under Jangho Group’s Annual Caps was HK$3.2 million.
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The Business Cooperation Framework Agreement constituted a continuing connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) in
respect of transactions under the Business Cooperation Framework Agreement are, on an annual basis, more than 0.1%
but less than 5%, the transactions are subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the circular and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(2)(a) of the Listing
Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected transactions
for the Year have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; (iii) on terms that are fair and reasonable according to the relevant agreement governing
them and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole; and (iv) within the caps as disclosed in the relevant
announcements. The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the continuing connected transaction entered
into by the Group for the Year in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Connected transaction

Sale and purchase agreement with t=EFE#ER QT (Beijing Huayu Real Estate Co., Ltd.*) (“Beijing
Huayu”)

Beijing Huayu was owned as to 60% by )L A glFibE 7 BR A 7] (Jangho Chuanxin Property Limited*), which was
owned as to 30% by Mr. Liu and 70% by Beijing Jiangheyuan, was ultimately owned as to 89.5% by Mr. Liu and 10.5%
by Ms. Fu, respectively, as at 16 January 2020. As Beijing Huayu was an associate of Mr. Liu, who is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, Beijing Huayu was a connected person of the Company within the meaning of the Listing
Rules.

On 16 January 2020, Beijing Huayu, as a vendor, and 1t RAEE 2B R /A 7 (Beijing Sundart Real Estate Co., Ltd.*),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as a purchaser, entered into a sale and purchase agreement in
relation to the acquisition of a commercial building in the PRC with the consideration of RMB185.4 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$209.2 million).

Such sale and purchase agreement constituted a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As (i) each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) of the total consideration
is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, and (ii) the transaction has been conducted on normal commercial terms,
the transaction is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but is exempt from the circular and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(2)(a) of the Listing Rules.

The Board confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules in relation to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions and connected transaction.

Save as those disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” above and in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance, to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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For particulars of the contracts of significance between the Group and the controlling shareholders of the Company
or their respective subsidiaries or the contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Group by the
controlling shareholders of the Company or their respective subsidiaries, please see the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions” above and note 44 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into by the Group or existed during the Year.

During the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company and their respective associates
had any interests in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interest with the Group which would be
required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Non-competition undertaking

In order to avoid any possible future competition between the Group and each of the controlling shareholders of the
Company, each of the controlling shareholders of the Company as a covenantor (the “Covenantor”) executed the
Amended Deed in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to which, each
of the Covenantors undertakes, inter alia, that it/he/she will not, and will use its/his/her best endeavours to procure, its/
his/her close associates (other than any member of the Group) not to, whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit
Or not, participate in or engage in any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with the Group’s
business. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 17 May 2017 and 25 July 2017 and the
circular of the Company dated 30 June 2017, respectively.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed on the compliance with the terms of the Amended Deed and

considered that the Covenantors have complied with the terms of the Amended Deed and the enforcement of the
undertakings contained therein by the parties thereto.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets or profits of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for its Directors and officers.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their
merit, qualifications and competence. The emolument of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to eligible persons, details of which are set out under
the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

Details of the Group's retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED

65



66

Directors’ Report

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or applicable laws of the BVI where
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

During the Year, two meetings of the Internal Control Committee were held on 27 March 2020 and 27 August 2020,
respectively, to review, inter alia, the Group's guidelines and procedures with respect to the sanction law matters. The
Internal Control Committee was of the view that such guidelines and procedures, which have been complied with, were
effective and well-functioned.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has not used any funds raised through the Stock Exchange, to finance or facilitate,
directly or indirectly, any activities or business in breach of the sanctions enacted, enforced or imposed by the United
States government, the European Union and Australian government with respect to Russia.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the Year.

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to HK$7,000.

For the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers accounted for 60.9%
of the Group’s total revenue and the revenue from its largest customer accounted for 22.3% of its total revenue.

In addition, the Group's purchases attributable to its five largest subcontractors and suppliers accounted for less than
30% of the Group's total purchases.

During the Year, none of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the

Directors, own more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares) had any interests in any of the Group’s five largest
customers.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Ng Tak Kwan
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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To the Shareholders of SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED
AREEBFRAA
(incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED #iE&EREBR A F] (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 72 to 153, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Contract revenue from fitting-out works and alteration and addition and construction works and contract

costs

We identified the contract revenue from fitting-out
works and alteration and addition and construction
works and contract costs as a key audit matter as
they are quantitatively significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and there are significant
judgments exercised by the management of the Group
in determining the total outcome of the projects as well
as the stage of completion of construction works and the
amount of contract revenue recognised.

The Group recognises contract revenue by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation using input method,
measured based on the proportion of contract costs
incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. If the price of contract
costs varied significantly in the coming months from the
budgets, the contract profit for each of the individual
projects would differ significantly from the estimated
contract profit. Accordingly, revenue recognition on
contract revenue involves a significant degree of
management estimates and judgment, with estimates
being made to assess the total contract costs and
stage of completion of the contract. The details of the
accounting policies and estimation uncertainty in relation
to revenue recognition on fitting-out works and alteration
and addition and construction works are set out in
notes 3 and 4, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.

As disclosed in notes 5 and 11 to the consolidated
financial statements, the contract revenue and the
contract costs amounted to HK$5,922,341,000 and
HK$4,998,577,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020,
respectively.
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Our procedures in relation to contract revenue and
contract costs included:

o Understanding the Group’s internal process over
the recognition of contract revenue;

o Discussing with the project managers, quantity
surveyors and the management of the Group and
checking the supporting documents including
contracts and variation orders to evaluate the
reasonableness of the management'’s estimation
of the budgeted revenue and budgeted contract
COSts;

o Checking the basis of the budgeted revenue
to underlying construction contracts and other
relevant correspondences and supporting
documents in respect of variations in construction
works or price adjustments;

o Recalculating the percentage of completion based
on accumulated actual cost incurred to date over
the total budget cost; and

o Agreeing the contract costs, on a sample basis,
incurred to date to the subcontractor payment
certificates and supplier invoices.



Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Estimated provision of expected credit losses (“"ECL") for trade receivables (included unbilled receivables)

and contract assets

We identified the estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due
to the significance to the consolidated financial position as
a whole and the use of judgement and estimates by the
management of the Group in determining the allowance
for credit losses.

As shown in notes 23 and 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2020, the carrying
amounts of trade receivables and contract assets are
HK$1,709,090,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of
HK$135,453,000) and HK$1,698,182,000 (net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$32,245,000), respectively.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets. For trade receivables and contract assets that
the Group does not have reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or
effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective
assessments is performed through grouping of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns, after considering
internal credit ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective trade
receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. In addition, trade receivables and
contract assets that are credit-impaired are assessed
for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the
credit-impaired trade receivables and contract assets is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows with the consideration of expected future credit
losses.

As disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, the net impairment losses of HK$96,452,000
and HK$970,000 in respect of the trade receivables
and contract assets were recognised in profit or loss
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020,
respectively.

Our procedures in relation to the estimated provision of
ECL for trade receivables and contract assets included:

e Obtaining an understanding of key process on
how the management estimates the ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets including the
individual assessment on the credit-impaired trade
receivables and contract assets and the use of
collective assessment,

e Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the internal credit rating,
including trade receivables ageing analysis and
contract assets as at 31 December 2020, on a sample
basis, by comparing individual items in the analysis
with the relevant invoices/progress certificates and/
or other supporting documents;

e  Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
identification of credit-impaired trade receivables
and contract assets as at 31 December 2020, and the
reasonableness of management's grouping of the
remaining trade debtors into different categories in
the collective assessment; and

e Discussing with the specialist appointed by the
Group and involving our specialist to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology
adopted by the management and the reasonableness
of the assumptions including estimated loss rates
applied in each category in the collective assessment
and forward-looking information.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Man Ka Lai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Revenue 5
Contract revenue from fitting-out works 5,654,082 5,293,637
Contract revenue from alteration and addition and
construction works 268,259 790,764
Manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of
interior decorative materials 6,736 11,758
Total revenue 5,929,077 6,096,159
Cost of sales (5,014,498) (5,246,481)
Gross profit 914,579 849,678
Other income, other gains and losses 7 (45,441) (33,116)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of reversal 9 (102,820) (35,969)
Selling expenses (9,340) (9,311)
Administrative expenses (270,914) (267,672)
Other expenses (2,958) (3,344)
Share of profits of associates 3,387 3,497
Finance costs 8 (7,764) (14,624)
Profit before tax 478,729 489,139
Income tax expense 10 (72,271) (76,165)
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 11 406,458 412,974
Other comprehensive income (expense)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of properties transferred to investment properties 2,217 -
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 50,848 (13,838)
Share of other comprehensive income (expense) of an associate 2,008 (579)
52,856 (14,417)
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year 55,073 (14,417)
Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to owners of the Company 461,531 398,557
Earnings per share
Basic (HK cents) 15 18.83 19.14
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 369,008 188,884
Right-of-use assets 17 16,780 21,318
Investment properties 18 56,355 10,001
Goodwill 19 1,510 1,510
Interests in associates 20 127,556 132,794
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 153,351 216,539
Deferred tax assets 32 17,823 -
742,383 571,046
Current assets
Inventories 22 37,940 55,212
Trade and other receivables and bills receivable 23 2,138,286 2,168,051
Amount due from a related company 24 1,444 9,027
Contract assets 25 1,698,182 1,804,833
Tax recoverable 816 -
Pledged bank deposits 26 90,398 56,902
Bank balances and cash 26 1,572,111 1,078,103
5,539,177 5,172,128
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 27 2,399,939 2,389,418
Bills payable 27 542,535 275,215
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 28 - 153
Tax payable 68,561 68,347
Bank borrowings 29 164,747 373,333
Lease liabilities 30 10,749 8,329
Contract liabilities 31 88,931 77,931
3,275,462 3,192,726
Net current assets 2,263,715 1,979,402
Total assets less current liabilities 3,006,098 2,550,448
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
Capital and reserves

Share capital 33 1,246,815 1,246,815
Reserves 1,750,036 1,288,505
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,996,851 2,535,320

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 32 1,806 987
Lease liabilities 30 7,441 14,141
9,247 15,128
3,006,098 2,550,448

The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 153 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 29 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ng Tak Kwan Xie Jianyu
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Attributable to owners of the Company
Property  Shareholders'

Share Share Legal Statutory  revaluation  contribution  Translation Other  Accumulated

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

(Note ) (Note b) (Note c)
At 1 January 2019 1246815 19,700 60 40,366 1241 6,615 (22,648) (277,406) 1,283,886 2298629
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations - - - - - - (13833 - - (13.839)
Share of other comprehensive expense of an associate - - - - - - (579) - - (579)
Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - m974 12974
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year - - - - - - (14417) - 2,974 398,557
Transfer from accumulated profit to statutory reserve - - - 9,900 - - - - (9.900) -
Dividends paid (note 14) - - - - - - - - (161,866) (161,866)
At 31 December 2019 1246815 19,700 60 50,266 1241 6,615 (37,065) (277,408) 1,525,094 2,535,320
(Gain on revaluation of properties transferred to
Investment properties - - - - 217 - - - - 217
Exchange differences rising on translation of foreign operations - - - - - - 50348 - - 50848
Share of other comprehensive income of an associate - - - - - - 2,008 - - 2,008
Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - 406,458 406,458
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 217 - 52,85 - 406,458 461531
Transfer from accumulated profits to statutory reserve - - - 16,359 - - - - (16,359) -
At 31 December 2020 1,246,815 19,700 60 66,625 348 6,615 15791 (277 406) 1915193 2,996,851
Notes:
(a In accordance with the provisions of the Macau Commercial Code, the subsidiaries of SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED #iZ&EE AR A F] (the

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of their profit for
the year to the legal reserve before appropriation of dividends until the legal reserve equals half of the quota capital of these subsidiaries. This
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders.

(b) As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the subsidiaries established in the PRC shall
set aside 10% of their net profits based on statutory accounts prepared in accordance with the relevant regulations and accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC to the statutory reserve before the distribution of the net profit each year until the balance reaches 50% of its
paid-in capital. The statutory reserve can only be used upon approval by the board of directors of the relevant subsidiary to offset accumulated
losses or increase capital.

(c) Other reserves included (i) a credit amount of HK$33,600,000 of recognition of other service costs, which represented the difference between
the fair value and consideration (represented by the net assets attributable to) of the acquisition of 10.2% equity interests in the Company by a
director, and (ii) a debit amount of HK$311,006,000, which represented the merger reserve of the acquisition of 100% equity interests in Sundart
Engineering & Contracting (Beijing) Limited ("Sundart Beijing") in relation to the application of merger accounting to the acquisition of Sundart
Beijing, being a business combination involving entities under common control, in prior years.
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Cconsolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
Operating activities
Profit before tax 478,729 489,139
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 7,764 14,624
Interest income (3,741) (8,871)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (1,776) (1,188)
Rent concessions (339) -
Share of profits of associates (3,387) (3,497)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17,954 11,633
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9,058 7,039
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model 102,820 35,969
Allowance for inventories 9,944 229
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 14 215
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss 72,586 49,833
Recovery of trade receivables written off (3,864) -
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 685,762 595,125
Decrease (increase) in inventories 7,328 (12,096)
Increase in trade and other receivables and bills receivable (29,449) (491,413)
Decrease (increase) in amount due from a related company 7,713 (2,300)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets 127,764 (55,148)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (83,369) 431,037
Increase in bills payable 235,810 66,272
(Decrease) increase in amount due to a fellow subsidiary (153) 153
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 6,916 (31,118)
Cash generated from operations 958,322 500,512
Income tax paid (96,483) (49,655)
Income tax refunded 6,386 12
Net cash from operating activities 868,225 450,869
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Cconsolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$000
Investing activities
Interest received 3,741 8,871
Dividends from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,776 1,188
Repayment from an associate 10,633 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 244 68
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (9,398) (30,043)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (228,328) (10,571)
Acquisition of assets through acquisition of a subsidiary 35 - (53,254)
Withdrawal of a deposit at a broker 50,000 -
Placement of a deposit at a broker - (50,000)
Redemption of note receivable - 180,000
Additions to note receivable - (180,000)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 120,282 109,615
Placement of pledged bank deposits (150,113) (118,948)
Net cash used in investing activities (201,163) (143,074)
Financing activities
Dividends paid - (161,866)
Interest paid (7,764) (14,624)
Repayments of bank borrowings (261,498) (728,797)
Repayments of lease liabilities (8,530) (6,291)
New bank borrowings raised 52,912 807,591
Net cash used in financing activities (224,880) (103,987)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 442,182 203,808
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,078,103 887,829
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 51,826 (13,534)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,572,111 1,078,103
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") on 21 May 2001
as an international business company, governed by the International Business Companies Act (Cap 291) and
was automatically re-registered as a BVI business company with limited liability on 1 January 2007 under the BVI
Companies Act, and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company are Commerce House, Wickhams Cay 1, P.O.
Box 3140, Road Town, Tortola, BVI, VG1110 and 19/F, Millennium City 3, 370 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, respectively.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Jangho Group Co., Ltd. (“Jangho Co”), a joint stock company
incorporated in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The Company’s ultimate controlling party is
Mr. Liu Zaiwang (“Mr. Liu"), the chairman of Jangho Co.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services. The
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 45.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSS in the current year had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that states “information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about
a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial
statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on early application of Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The Group has applied the amendment for the first time in the current year. The amendment introduces a new
practical expedient for lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease
modification. The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (“Covid-19") that meets all of the following conditions:

o the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same
as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 Leases if the changes were not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The
related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application of the amendment had no impact to the opening accumulated profits at 1 January 2020 and no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the current year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments'

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 23

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-20207

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

a2 w N =

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(if) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later
date.

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

New and amendments to HKFRSSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were produced while bringing an item of property, plant
and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management (such as samples produced when testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is
functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such items should be recognised and measured in the profit
or loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the items are measured in accordance with HKAS 2
Inventories.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether a contract is onerous in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the unavoidable costs under the contract
should reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and
any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental
costs and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether modification of terms of original financial
liability constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only fees paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the
lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases
The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technigue is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to investment properties which are subsequently measured under fair value
model and financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

Merger accounting for business combination involving businesses under common control
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements items of the combining
businesses in which the common control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the
date when the combining businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using the existing book values from the
controlling party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain
at the time of common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining businesses first came under the common control, where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented as if the businesses
had been combined at the beginning of the previous reporting period or when they first came under
common control, whichever is shorter.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represents the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or groups of cash-generating units).
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-generating unit within the group of
cash-generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit
(or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of
and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, investments in associates
are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.
Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment 10ss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to
the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service. Trading income from manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative
materials is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on
anet basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of leased properties, machinery
and equipment that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting
from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:
. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees,

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option to terminate the lease.
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review,
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the
Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic,
the Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

. the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021;
and
. there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or 10ss in the period in which the event occurs.
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3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or 10ss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original terms and conditions
are accounted for as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or
reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of
the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or l0ss in the period in which they arise.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is a disposal of the Group's entire interests in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or l0ss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or l0ss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or 10oss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income, other gain and losses”.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and
sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) and other defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve. For share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based payments reserve
will be transferred to accumulated profits. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will also be transferred to accumulated profits.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current
tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by end of
owner occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly
to accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or |oss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment
properties include land held for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for capital appreciation
purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15,
the Group assesses and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts
in accordance with applicable standards. Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds the remaining amount of consideration
that the Group expects to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs which relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to
which they belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs other
than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
(or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or l0ss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on
a weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contract with customers which are initially measured in a accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and
. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of
a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term;

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at

the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(1) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(in) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or 10ss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
including trade and other receivables and bills receivable, amount due from a related company, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances, and contract assets which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit 10ss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, bills receivable and contract assets.
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises

lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0]

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations,

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and/
or
. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

©) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties; or

) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or 10ss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group

in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables, bills receivable and contract assets are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit information
such as forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. past-due status;
. nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. external credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or 10ss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise
modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group assesses whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash
flows of the original financial asset.
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not result in derecognition, the carrying
amount of the relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual
cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit or
loss at the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, bills payable, amount due to a fellow subsidiary
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Estimation uncertainty on supply and installation contracts including fitting-out works
and alteration and addition and construction works

As detailed in notes 3 and 5, the Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation using input method, measured based on the
proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.
If the price of contract costs varied significantly in the coming months from the budgets, the contract profit for
each of the individual projects would differ significantly from the estimated contract profit. Accordingly, revenue
recognition on contract revenue involves a significant degree of management estimates and judgement, with
estimates being made to assess the total contract costs and stage of completion of the contract.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group’s unlisted equity fund amounting to HK$92,000,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$123,602,000)
are measured at fair values with fair values being determined based on significant unobservable inputs using
valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques
and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair values of these instruments. Further disclosures are set out in note 39.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (including unbilled receivables) and contract assets
Trade receivables (including unbilled receivables) and contract assets with credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, for trade receivables (including unbilled receivables) and contract assets that the Group does not
have reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on
individual basis, collective assessment is performed by grouping debtors based on the Group's internal credit
ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the
Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is higher risk
that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit default rates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables (including unbilled receivables) and contract assets are disclosed in note 39.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions which are set out
in note 18.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, or other unexpected incidents would result in changes
in the fair values of the Group's investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain
or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or 1oss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties is HK$56,355,000 (2019:
HK$10,001,000).
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5.  REVENUE
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year was as follows:

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000

Contract revenue from fitting-out works (note a) 5,654,082 5,293,637

Contract revenue from alteration and addition and construction works

(note a) 268,259 790,764
Manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials

(note b) 6,736 11,758

5,929,077 6,096,159

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Manufacturing,
sourcing and
Alteration and distribution

addition and of interior

Fitting-out  construction decorative
works works materials
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000

Geographical markets

Hong Kong 1,747,964 268,259 -
Macau 1,814,625 - 3,672
The PRC 2,091,493 - 2,717
Others - - 347
Total 5,654,082 268,259 6,736
Timing of revenue recognition

A point in time - - 6,736
Over time 5,654,082 268,259 -
Total 5,654,082 268,259 6,736
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5. REVENUE (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Manufacturing,

sourcing and

Alteration and distribution
addition and of interior

Fitting-out construction decorative
works works materials
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Geographical markets

Hong Kong 1,522,584 790,764 2,264
Macau 2,065,350 - 5,022
The PRC 1,705,703 - 926
Others - - 3,546
Total 5,293,637 790,764 11,758
Timing of revenue recognition
A point in time - - 11,758
Over time 5,293,637 790,764 -
Total 5,293,637 790,764 11,758
Notes:
(a) The Group provides fitting-out works and alteration and addition and construction works to its customers. Under the terms of contracts,

the Group's performance creates and enhances the properties which the customers control during the course of work by the Group.
Revenue from provision of contracting services is therefore recognised based on the stage of completion of contract over time using
input method. The Group normally receives progress payment from customers on a monthly basis with reference to the value of works
done. The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits range from 5% to 30% of total contract sum, when the Group
receives a deposit before the project commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the full amount
of deposit is deducted proportionately from monthly progress payment.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract, is recognised over the period in which the construction services
are performed representing the Group's right to consideration for the services performed and not billed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance accepted by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional. The Group typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables when progress certificate/
invoice is issued.

Retentions receivable, prior to expiration of maintenance period, are classified as contract assets, which usually ranges from one
to two years from the date of the practical completion of the project. The relevant amount of contract assets is reclassified to trade
receivables when the maintenance period expires, and/or the maintenance/payment certificate is issued, and/or the final account
is issued. The maintenance period serves as an assurance that the construction services performed comply with agreed upon
specifications and such assurance cannot be purchased separately.

(b) The Group also generates revenue from manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials business. This revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the goods have been delivered to specific location and customers obtain control of the materials.

(c) The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2020
and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

Construction contracts

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

Within one year 2,970,392 4,139,939
More than one year but not more than two years 239,821 701,561
3,210,213 4,841,500

Certain services are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS
The Company’s executive directors are the chief operating decision makers. Information reported to the chief

operating decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on three principal business activities.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(@ Fitting-out works in Hong Kong;

(b) Fitting-out works in Macau,

(© Fitting-out works in the PRC;

(d) Alteration and addition and construction works in Hong Kong; and

(e) Manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials.

Information regarding the above segments was reported below:

Segment revenue and results
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Manufacturing,
Alterationand  sourcing and
additionand  distribution

Fitting-out Fitting-out Fitting-out  construction of interior
works in works in works in works in decorative Segment

Hong Kong Macau thePRC  Hong Kong materials total  Elimination  Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000

Revenue

External revenue 1,747,964 1,814,625 2,091,493 268,259 6,736 5.929,077 = 5.929,077

Inter-segment revenue 9,315 - - - 301,678 310,993 (310,993) -
Segment revenue 1,757,219 1,814,625 2,091,493 268,259 308,414 6,240,070 (310,993) 5,929,077
Segment profit loss) 151,990 267,467 127,047 (11,943) 52,340 586,901 - 586,901
Share of profits of associates 3,387
Unallocated other income 8,559
Unallocated corporate

£XDEnses (112,354)
Unallocated finance costs (7,764)
Profit before tax 478,729
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Manufacturing,
Alterationand ~ sourcing and
addition and distribution

Fitting-out Fitting-out Fitting-out ~ construction of interior
works in Works in works in Works in (ecorative Segment

Hong Kong Macau the PRC Hong Kong materials total Elimination  Consolicated
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

Revenue

External revenue 1,522,584 2,085,350 1,705,703 790,764 11,758 6,096,159 - 6,096,159

Inter-segment revenue - - - (450) 260,620 260,170 (260,170) -
Segment revenue 1,522,584 2,085,350 1,705,703 790,314 272378 6,356,329 260,170) 6,096,159
Segment profit l0ss) 117916 362,006 81,637 (3793 31,30 589,092 - 589,092
Share of profits of associates 3497
Unallocated other income 10632
Unallocated corporate

£Xpenses (99.658)
Unallocated finance costs (14,624)
Profit before tax 189,139

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment profit/loss represented the profit earned by/loss from each segment, excluding income
and expenses of the corporate function, which included certain other income, certain selling expenses,
certain administrative expenses, certain other expenses, share of profits of associates and finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the Company’s executive directors for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Inter-segment revenue was charged at prevailing market rates.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities
The following was an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000
Segment assets
Fitting-out works in Hong Kong 1,236,411 1,224,221
Fitting-out works in Macau 549,043 966,380
Fitting-out works in the PRC 2,050,112 1,475,367
Alteration and addition and construction works in Hong Kong 280,753 352,606
Manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials 90,097 124,448
Total segment assets 4,206,416 4,143,022
Unallocated corporate assets
Property, plant and equipment 52,050 54,644
Right-of-use assets 1,906 -
Investment properties 56,355 10,001
Interests in associates 127,556 132,794
Financial assets at FVTPL 153,351 216,539
Deferred tax assets 17,823 -
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 2,778 51,169
Tax recoverable 816 -
Pledged bank deposits 90,398 56,902
Bank balances and cash 1,572,111 1,078,103
Total consolidated assets of the Group 6,281,560 5,743,174

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000
Segment liabilities
Fitting-out works in Hong Kong 433,398 453,483
Fitting-out works in Macau 204,654 437,370
Fitting-out works in the PRC 2,185,356 1,564,884
Alteration and addition and construction works in Hong Kong 153,932 243,226
Manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials 54,333 51,848
Total segment liabilities 3,031,673 2,750,811
Unallocated corporate liabilities
Other payables 15,981 14,376
Tax payable 68,561 68,347
Bank borrowings 164,747 373,333
Lease liabilities 1,941 -
Deferred tax liabilities 1,806 987
Total consolidated liabilities of the Group 3,284,709 3,207,854
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources among segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain property, plant and equipment, certain
right-of-use assets, investment properties, interests in associates, financial assets at FVTPL, deferred tax
assets, certain other receivables, prepayments and deposits, tax recoverable, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash.

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain other payables, tax payable, bank
borrowings, certain lease liabilities and deferred tax liabilities.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Manufacturing,
Alterationand  sourcing and
additionand  distribution of

Fitting-out Fitting-out Fitting-out  construction interior
works in works in works in works in decorative
Hong Kong Macau thePRC  Hong Kong materials Segmenttotal  Unallocated  Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

Amounts incluced in the
measure of segment profit
0r loss or Segment assets:

Adaltions of property,

plantand equipment - 2 220,511 - 7,806 228,319 9 228,328
Adations of right-of-use

assets - - - - 1,505 1,505 2,326 3,831
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 4,711 2 5,675 48 4916 15,352 2,602 17,954
Depreciation of

right-of-use assets 464 - - 1,167 7,008 8,639 419 9,058
Net impairment loss on trade

and other receivables and

ills receivable recognised

In profit orloss 1,004 15,057 76,687 9,102 - 101,850
Net impairment oss on

COntract assets recognised

in profitor loss (3,648) (15,044) 21,540 (1,878) - 970 - 970
(Gain) loss on disposal

of property, plant and

equipment, net - - (96) - 109 13 1 14
Allowance for inventories - - - - 9,944 9,944 - 9,944

101,850
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Manufacturing,
Alterationand ~ sourcing and
additionand ~ distribution of

Fitting-out Fitting-out Fitting-out ~ construction interior
worksin worksin worksin worksin (ecorative
Hong Kong Macau the PRC Hong Kong materials  Segment total Unallocated ~ Consolicated
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

Amounts incluced in the
measure of segment profit
0r loss or segment assets:

Adaltions of property,

plant and equipment 3126 - 1209 - 4220 85% 55,361 63,956
Additions of right-of-use

assets - - - 35% - 35% - 359
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 4275 3 142 20 4568 10,561 1072 11,633
Depreciation of

right-0f-Use assets 464 - - 194 6,381 7,039 - 7,039
Net impairment loss on trade

and other receivables and

hills receivable recognised

in profit or loss 403 K/ 15,448 861 - 17,034 - 17,034
Net impairment oss on

(Ontract assets recognised

in profit or loss 5346 24 9,287 2061 - 1893 - 18935
Loss (gain) on disposal

of property, plant and

equipment, net 19 - 176 - 69 264 49) 215
Allowance for inventories - - - - 29 29 - 29
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Geographical information
The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC.

Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial instruments) is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hong Kong 2,016,223 2,315,612 286,325 298,858
Macau 1,818,297 2,070,372 2 2
The PRC 2,094,210 1,706,629 302,705 55,647
Others 347 3,546 - -
5,929,077 6,096,159 589,032 354,507

All non-current assets (excluding financial instruments) of the Group are located in the respective group entities’
country of domicile.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are

as follows:
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
Customer A (note a) 1,319,940 N/AMNete )
Customer B (note b) 1,317,242 876,894
Customer C (note ¢) N/AMNote d) 1,564,395
Notes:
(a) The revenue was from fitting-out works in Hong Kong and Macau.
(b) The revenue was from fitting-out works in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC.
(© The revenue was from fitting-out works in Macau.
(d) The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the relevant year.
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7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000
Other income

Government grants (note) 18,397 -
Interest income 3,741 8,871
Dividends from financial assets at FVTPL 1,776 1,188
Rental income 1,440 520
Consultancy fee and entrustment fee income 530 526
Rent concessions (note 17) 339 -
Others 2,656 4,335
28,879 15,440

Other gains and losses
Recovery of trade receivables written off 3,864 -
Loss from fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL (72,586) (49,833)
Net foreign exchange (losses) gains (5,584) 1,492
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net (14) (215)
(74,320) (48,556)
(45,441) (33,116)

Note:  During the current year, the Group recognised government grants of HK$18,397,000 in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies, of which
HK$18,010,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the government of Hong Kong.

8.  FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000

Interest on bank borrowings and overdrafts 6,960 13,489
Interest on lease liabilities 804 1,135
7,764 14,624
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000
Impairment losses recognised on:
— trade and other receivables and bills receivable 101,850 17,034
— contract assets 970 18,935
102,820 35,969
Details of impairment assessment were set out in note 39.
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
Current tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax 16,837 14,396
Macau Complementary Tax 40,252 46,557
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 30,703 13,004
87,792 73,957
(Over) under provision in prior years
Hong Kong Profits Tax (913) (104)
Macau Complementary Tax (1,686) 918
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 3,203 1,348
604 2,162
Deferred tax
Current year (note 32) (16,125) 46
72,271 76,165

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Macau Complementary Tax was calculated at 12% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries was 25% for both years. Two PRC subsidiaries obtained approval from
the relevant tax bureaus and are qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises which are entitled to a tax
reduction from 25% to 15%.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$000
Profit before tax 478,729 489,139
Tax at the weighted average tax rate (note a) 76,135 70,629
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 17,581 16,947
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (5,021) (1,115)
Tax effect of share of profits of associates (559) (577)
Under provision in prior years 604 2,162
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 6,618 5,429
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (554) (169)
Income tax on concession rate (10,537) (8,405)
Additional tax allowance for research and development expenses (note b) (14,050) (11,480)
Others 2,054 2,744
Income tax expense for the year 72,271 76,165
Notes:
(a) The weighted average applicable tax rate for different jurisdictions for the year ended 31 December 2020 is 15.9% (2019: 14.4%). The

weighted average applicable tax rate represents the weighted average tax rate in different jurisdictions in which the Group operates
and is calculated on the basis of the profit or loss before tax arising in these jurisdictions and the applicable statutory tax rates.

(b) A further tax deduction of 75% on the qualifying expenses for research and development activities were granted to two PRC
subsidiaries.
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration
Audit service fee
Non-audit service fee

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Covid-19-related rent concessions (note 17)
Cost of inventories recognised as expense
Allowance for inventories (included in contract costs and cost of sales)

Contract costs recognised as expense
Fitting-out works
Alteration and addition and construction works

Research and development expenses
(included in administrative expenses)

Staff costs
Gross staff costs (including directors’” emoluments)
Less: Staff costs capitalised to contract costs and inventories

Gross rental income from investment properties
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for investment properties that
generated rental income during the year

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$000
1,970 1,900

965 862

2,935 2,762
17,954 11,633
9,058 7,039
27,012 18,672
(339) -
5,977 5,435
9,944 229
4,728,226 4,455,807
270,351 785,010
4,998,577 5,240,817
74,933 61,224
481,978 453,912
(341,346) (302,782)
140,632 151,130
(1,440) (520)
248 61
(1,192) (459)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was as follows:

Salaries and

other
Name of directors Fees benefits
HK$’000 HK$'000

Executive directors:

2020
Retirement

Discretionary benefit

incentive scheme
payments contributions
HK$'000 HK$'000

Total
HK$°000

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan - 2,400 10,000 - 12,400

Mr. Leung Kai Ming - 2,391 5,500 - 7,891

Mr. Xie Jianyu - 1,719 1,500 18 3,237

Mr. Ng Chi Hang - 1,513 1,500 18 3,031

Non-executive director:

Mr. Liu 600 - - - 600

Independent non-executive

directors:

Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung 360 - - - 360

Mr. Huang Pu 360 - - - 360

Mr. Li Zheng 360 - - - 360
1,680 8,023 18,500 36 28,239
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12. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

2019

Retirement
Salariesand  Discretionary benefit

other incentive scheme
Name of directors Fees benefits payments  contributions Total
HK$"000 HK$000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000

Executive directors:

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan - 2,400 9,000 9 11,409
Mr. Leung Kai Ming - 2,395 5,000 - 7,395
Mr. Xie Jianyu - 1,679 1,500 18 3,197
Mr. Ng Chi Hang - 1,471 1,500 18 2,989

Non-executive director:
Mr. Liu 600 - - - 600

Independent non-executive

directors:
Mr. Tam Anthony Chun Hung 360 - - - 360
Mr. Huang Pu 360 - - - 360
Mr. Li Zheng 360 - - - 360

1,680 7,945 17,000 45 26,670

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-executive director's emolument shown above was for his
services as a director of the Company and the independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for the services as directors of the Company.

These was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any of their emoluments for both
years.

The Group has been providing accommodation, which is leased from third party, to an executive director for use
by his and his family members at no charge. The estimated money value of the benefit in kind is approximately
HK$270,000 (2019: HK$270,000).

The discretionary incentive payments were discretionary and were determined with reference to the
performance of individuals and the Group.

Mr. Ng Tak Kwan is also the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive”) and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included four directors (2019: four directors),
details of whose emoluments were disclosed in note 12 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining one (2019: one) highest paid employee who was neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
was as follows:

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$'000

Salaries and other benefits 2,820 1,632
Discretionary incentive payments 758 600
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme - 18
3,578 2,250

The number of the highest paid employees who were not the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands was as follows:

2020 2019

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 = 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 -

No emolument was paid to the directors of the Company and the five highest paid individuals of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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14. DIVIDENDS

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised as

distribution during the year:

2020 Interim — nil (2019: 2019 interim dividend HK2.5 cents) per share - 53,955
2019 Final — nil (2019: 2018 final dividend HK5 cents) per share - 107,911
- 161,866

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020
of HK8 cents per share, in an aggregate amount of HK$172,657,000, has been proposed by the directors of the
Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting (2019: the
directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2019).

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company was based on the
following data:

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 406,458 412,974

Number of shares

2020 2019
‘000 ‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,158,210 2,158,210

No diluted earnings per share were presented for both years as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Owned Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
properties  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

COST
At 1 January 2019 106,100 35,150 24,250 14,036 3,523 183,059
Exchange adjustments - (796) (430) (159) 31 (1,416)
Additions - 4,893 920 3,530 1,228 10,571
Acquired on acquisition of

a subsidiary (note 35) 53,385 - - - - 53,385
Disposals - 612) (329) 3,772) (501) (5,214)
At 31 December 2019 159,485 38,635 24,41 13,635 4,219 240,385
Exchange adjustments 7,993 2,738 1,478 500 97 12,806
Additions 215,508 7,105 4,150 857 708 228,328
Transfer to investment

properties (note 18) (40,494) - - - - (40,494)
Disposals - - (159) (73) (536) (768)
At 31 December 2020 342,492 43,478 29,880 14,919 4,488 440,257
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2019 1,529 14,880 14,991 12,214 1,923 45,537
Exchange adjustments - (357) (247) (122) (18) (738)
Provided for the year 4,150 3486 1,952 1,255 790 11,633
Eliminated on disposals - 612) (268) (3,550) (501) (4,931)
At 31 December 2019 5,679 17,403 16,428 9,797 2,194 51,501
Exchange adjustments 210 1,246 835 381 32 2,704
Provided for the year 9,767 4,221 1,832 1,409 725 17,954
Transfer to investment

properties (note 18) (400) - - - - (400)
Eliminated on disposals - - (67) (66) 377 (510)
At 31 December 2020 15,256 22,870 19,028 11,521 2,574 71,249
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2020 327,236 25,608 10,852 3,398 1914 369,008
At 31 December 2019 153,806 21,232 7,983 3,838 2,025 188,384
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the
following rates per annum:

Owned properties Over the remaining term of lease or useful life, if shorter
Leasehold improvements 10%—-50% or over the remaining term of lease, if shorter
Plant and machinery 9%-30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10%-50% or over the remaining term of lease, if shorter
Motor vehicles 18%-33"/3%

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased Office
properties equipment Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
COST
At 1 January 2019 23,831 1,332 25,163
Exchange adjustments (522) - (522)
Additions 3,598 - 3,598
At 31 December 2019 26,907 1,332 28,239
Exchange adjustments 1,502 - 1,502
Additions 3,831 - 3,831
At 31 December 2020 32,240 1,332 33,572
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2019 - - -
Exchange adjustments (118) - (118)
Provided for the year 6,575 464 7,039
At 31 December 2019 6,457 464 6,921
Exchange adjustments 813 - 813
Provided for the year 8,594 464 9,058
At 31 December 2020 15,864 928 16,792
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2020 16,376 404 16,780
At 31 December 2019 20,450 868 21,318
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
Expense relating to short-term leases 22,766 27,889
Total cash outflow for leases 31,342 35,315
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases factory, office premises and office equipment for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2 to 5 years (2019: 3 to 5 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for sites offices, warehouses, staff quarters and carparks.
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Rent concessions
During the year ended 31 December 2020, lessors of a factory and an office in the PRC, provided rent
concessions to the Group through rent reductions ranging from 50% to 100% over one month.

These rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and met of all of the conditions
in HKFRS 16.46B, and the Group applied the practical expedient not to assess whether the changes constitute
lease modifications. The effects on changes in lease payments due to forgiveness or waiver by the lessors for
the relevant leases of HK$339,000 were recognised as negative variable lease payments.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$'000

FAIR VALUE

At 1 January 2019 10,171

Exchange adjustments (170)
At 31 December 2019 10,001

Exchange adjustments 4,043
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 1¢) 42,311

At 31 December 2020 56,355

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group changed the usage of certain properties from owner
occupation to investment properties. Accordingly, the relevant portion of the properties with net carrying values
of HK$40,094,000 was transferred from property, plant and equipment to investment properties at their fair
values on the date of transfer of HK$42,311,000 which were determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected with the Group. The difference between the fair values of these properties and their carrying
values at the date of transfer has been credited to property revaluation reserve.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group's properties interests (i) situated in Hong Kong which is one (2019: one)
piece or parcel of ground held for capital appreciation; and (ii) located in the PRC which are two (2019: one)
commercial properties held under operating leases to earn rental income. They are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 have been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by Asset Appraisal Limited.

The valuation of the piece or parcel of ground situated in Hong Kong has been arrived at using direct comparison
method by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in the same locations and
conditions.

The fair values of the other two commercial properties located in the PRC were determined based on the
income capitalisation approach, where the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed and
discounted at the reversionary yield expected by investors for this type of properties. The market rentals are
assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined by reference to the yields derived from
analysing the sales transactions of similar commercial properties in the relevant locations and adjusted to take
into account the market expectation from property investors to reflect factors specific to the Group's investment
properties.

The management of the Group considered that the fair value change was insignificant and therefore no fair value
change was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these investment properties are determined
(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categories (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

Investment Fair value  Valuation technique(s)  Significant Relationship of
properties held hierarchy  and key input(s) unobservable unobservable inputs
by the Group in input(s) to fair value

the consolidated
statement of
financial position

Investment property  Level 3 Direct comparison method

in Hong Kong with The key input is

carrying amount of

HK$2,410,000 (1) Unit sale rate (1) Unit sale rate, taking into (1) Anincrease in the unit sale

(2019: HK$2,410,000) account the size, location, rate used would result in an
and character, between the increase in the fair value of the
comparable and the property, investment property and vice
ranging from HK$265 to HK$558 versa.
(2019: HK$225 to HK$650) per
square feet on gross floor area
basis for the property.

Investment property  Level 3 Income capitalisation

in the PRC with method

carrying amount of The key input is

HK$8,080,000

(2019: HK$7,591,000) (1) Reversionary yield (1) Reversionary yield of 5.3% (1) Anincrease in the reversionary
(2019:5.7%) yield used would result in a

decrease in the fair value of the
investment property and vice

versa.
(2) Yearlymarketunitrent (2) Yearly market unitrent per gross (2) Anincrease in the yearly market
floor area (square meter) of unit rent used would result in an
RMB2,838 (2019: RMB3,027) increase in the fair value of the
investment property and vice
versa.
Investment property  Level 3 Income capitalisation
in the PRC with method
carrying amount of The key input is
HK$45,865,000
(2019:n/a) (1) Reversionary yield (1) Reversionary yield of 4.9% (1) Anincrease in the reversionary
(2019:n/a) yield used would result in a

decrease in the fair value of the
investment property and vice

versa.
(2) Yearlymarketunitrent (2) Yearly market unitrent per gross (2) Anincrease in the yearly market
floor area (square meter) of unit rent used would result in an
RMB883 (2019: n/a) increase in the fair value of the
investment property and vice
versa.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
The fair values of all investment properties as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were measured using
valuation technigues with significant unobservable inputs and hence were classified as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

19. GOODWILL
HK$'000
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 1,510

Amount represented the excess of consideration paid over the fair value of net assets taken over on the
acquisition of subsidiaries, Sundart Timber Products Company Limited (“Sundart Timber”) and Sundart Living
Limited (“Sundart Living"). For the purpose of impairment test, the carrying amount of goodwill had been
allocated to the cash-generating unit of Sundart Timber and Sundart Living under the fitting-out works in Hong
Kong segment, and the manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials segment,
amounting to HK$746,000 and HK$764,000, respectively. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units of
Sundart Timber and Sundart Living have been determined based on a value in use calculation. No impairment is
recognised.

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$'000

Unlisted shares, at cost - -

Deemed contribution to an associate 70,167 80,800
Share of post-acquisition profits and other

comprehensive income, net of dividends received 57,389 51,994

127,556 132,794

Deemed contribution to an associate represents loan advanced to an associate which is unsecured, interest
free and has no fixed repayment terms. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the loan is in substance
formed part of investment in an associate. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the loan advanced to an
associate of HK$10,633,000 (2019: nil) was repaid.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group had interests in the following associates:

Form of Principal Proportion of issued capital
business Country of place of Class of and voting rights held by  Principal
Name of entity structure incorporation operation share held the Group activities
2020 2019
% %

EAGLE VISION DEVELOPMENT LIMITED  Incorporated BVI Hong Kong Ordinary 28.57 2857 Investment
('Eagle Vision") holding
FORTUNE MARVEL LIMITED (‘FML")  Incorporated BVl Hong Kong Ordinary 30 30 Investment

holding
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The summarised consolidated financial information of Eagle Vision and FML and which was prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, was set out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Eagle Eagle
Vision FML Total Vision FML Total
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Current assets 590,585 - 590,585 561,965 - 561,965
Non-current assets 430,950 - 430,950 446,573 - 446,573
Current liabilities (414,987) (76) (415,063) (425,288) 63) (425,351)
Non-current liabilities (46,855) - (46,855) (54,286) - (54,286)
Net assets (liabilities) attributable to:
Shareholders 200,953 (76) 200,877 182,056 (63) 181,993
Non-controlling interests 358,740 - 358,740 346,908 - 346,908
559,693 (76) 559,617 528,964 (63) 528,901
Revenue 443,142 - 443,142 500,718 - 500,718
Profit (loss) for the year 22,942 (13) 22,929 26,356 (18) 26,338
Attributable to:
Shareholders 11,334 (13) 11,321 11,631 (18) 11,613
Non-controlling interests 11,608 - 11,608 14,725 - 14,725
22,942 (13) 22,929 26,356 (18) 26,338
Other comprehensive income
(expense) for the year 12,686 - 12,686 (3,337) - (3,337)
Attributable to:
Shareholders 7,028 - 7,028 (2,026) - (2,026)
Non-controlling interests 5,658 - 5,658 (1,311) - (1,311)
12,686 - 12,686 (3,337) - (3,337)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

2020 2019
Eagle Eagle

Vision FML Total Vision FML Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

Total comprehensive income

(expense) for the year 35,628 (13) 35,615 23,019 (18) 23,001

Attributable to:
Shareholders 18,362 (13) 18,349 9,605 (18) 9,587
Non-controlling interests 17,266 - 17,266 13,414 - 13,414
35,628 (13) 35,615 23,019 (18) 23,001

Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial information of Eagle Vision and FML to the
carrying amounts of the interests in the associates recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2020
Eagle Eagle

Vision FML Total Vision
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Net assets (liabilities)

attributable to shareholders 200,953 (76) 200,877 182,056 (63) 181,993
Proportion of the Group's

ownership interests 28.57% 30% N/A 28.57% 30% N/A

57,412 (23) 57,389 52,013 (19) 51,994

Deemed investments 70,167 - 70,167 80,800 - 80,800

Carrying amount of the Group’s
interests 127,579 (23) 127,556 132,813 (19) 132,794
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22.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000

Listed equity securities 61,351 92,937
Unlisted equity fund 92,000 123,602
153,351 216,539

During the current year, loss from changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL of HK$31,586,000 (2019:
HK$34,833,000) was recognised in profit or loss from listed equity securities.

During the current year, the Group further injected HK$9,398,000 (2019: HK$9,842,000) to the unlisted equity fund
in fulfilling capital commitment in capacity as a limited partner. As at 31 December 2020, the Group's interest in
the unlisted equity fund remained at 18.71% (2019: 18.71%). The general partner of the unlisted equity fund is
a subsidiary of a related company listed in Hong Kong. The unlisted equity fund was in relation to commercial
buildings development in Hong Kong. It was measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
unlisted equity fund with more than 12 months operation period from the end of reporting period was classified as
non-current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group has committed to contribute
a predetermined capital amount in the unlisted equity fund and loss from changes in fair value of the fund of
HK$41,000,000 (2019: HK$15,000,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year. The unlisted equity fund
may call upon further capital contribution if required up to the pre-determined capital amount. There was no
capital returned to the Group from the unlisted equity fund during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019.

INVENTORIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000

At net realisable value:
Raw materials 13,955 23,831
Work-in-progress 23,696 30,753
Finished goods 289 628
37,940 55,212
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND BILLS RECEIVABLE

Trade and other receivables and bills receivable at the end of each reporting period comprised receivables from
third parties as follows:

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$000

Trade receivables (gross carrying amount)

— fitting-out works 735,688 682,790
— alteration and addition and construction works 59,185 102,006
— manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials 96 994

794,969 785,790
Less: Allowance for credit losses (68,751) (15,622)
Trade receivables (net carrying amount) 726,218 770,168
Unbilled receivables (gross carrying amount) (note) 1,049,574 833,479
Less: Allowance for credit losses (66,702) (17,894)
Unbilled receivables (net carrying amount) 982,872 815,585
Other receivables (gross carrying amount) 129,923 171,486
Less: Allowance for credit losses (3,360) -
Other receivables (net carrying amount) 126,563 171,486
Bills receivable (gross carrying amount) 43,637 9,946
Less: Allowance for credit losses (2,353) -
Bills receivable (net carrying amount) 41,284 9,946
Prepayments and deposits 261,349 400,866

2,138,286 2,168,051

Note:  Unbilled receivables represented the remaining balances of contract receivables to be billed for completed portion of construction
contracts according to the contract terms.

As at 1 January 2019, trade and unbilled receivables from contracts with customers amounted to HK$1,271,971,000.

Trade receivables

The Group allows a credit period of 7 to 90 days to its trade customers. The following was an ageing analysis
of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on invoice date at the end of each
reporting period.

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$000

1-30 days 519,669 564,295
31-60 days 110,053 101,931
61-90 days 15,301 9,807
Over 90 days 81,195 94,135
726,218 770,168
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customers. Recoverability of the existing customers is reviewed by the Group regularly.

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group's trade receivable balances were customers with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$159,451,000 (2019: HK$167,984,000) which were past due as at the reporting date. Out of
the past due balances, HK$65,583,000 (2019: HK$93,253,000) has been past due more than 90 days and was not
considered as in default. The Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL model for trade receivables
over 90 days past due based on no significant change in credit quality after understood these customers’
background as well as the good payment records of and continuous business relationship with those customers.
Further, such long outstanding balances were primarily due to overdue payment was a common practice in
construction industry and prolonged internal procedures of the relevant customers. These customers were
assessed individually and/or collectively with appropriate groupings for the credit risk based on their historical
default rate, probability of default and exposure of default and were adjusted for forward-looking information
that was available without undue cost or effort. Other than bills received, the Group did not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Bills receivable

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of bills receivable amounting to HK$41,284,000 (2019:
HK$9,946,000) were held by the Group for settlement, of which HK$7,064,000 (2019: nil) have been pledged as
security for certain bills payable. All bills receivable held by the Group was with a maturity period of less than
one year.

Ageing of bills receivable, net of allowance for credit losses, was as follows:

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000

1-30 days 16,242M0t 5,582
31-60 days - 1,005
61-90 days - 1,923
Over 90 days 25,042 1,436
41,284 9,946

Note:  As at 31 December 2020, the relevant bills receivable amounting to HK$9,939,000 was issued by a related company in which Mr. Liu
and his spouse have in aggregate 80% beneficial interest.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and bills receivable were set out in note 39.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

24.

25.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY

The amount due from a related company in which Mr. Liu and his spouse have in aggregate 80% (2019: 95%)
beneficial interest and the balance represented trade receivable.

The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to the related company. As at 31 December 2020, the trade
receivable due from the related company was aged within 90 days (2019: over 90 days) based on invoice date.

Details of impairment assessment of amount due from a related company were set out in note 39.

CONTRACT ASSETS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000

Contract assets (gross carrying amount)
— fitting-out works 1,520,784 1,612,038
— alteration and addition and construction works 209,559 221,856
— manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of interior decorative materials 84 551
1,730,427 1,834,445
Less: Allowance for credit losses (32,245) (29,612)
Shown under current assets 1,698,182 1,804,833

As at 1 January 2019, contract assets amounted to HK$1,775,883,000.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the same contract, is recognised over the period in which the
construction services are performed representing the Group’s right to consideration for the services performed
and not billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group's future performance accepted by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The Group
typically transfers its contract assets to trade receivables when progress certificate/invoice is issued. As at 31
December 2020, contract assets included HK$361,000 (2019: nil) from a related Company. The Group typically
agrees 5% of the total contract sum as retention money, of which half will generally be released after the issue
of the certificate of practical completion and the remaining portion will be released after the maintenance
period. The Group generally provides their customers with one to two years maintenance period from the date
of the practical completion of the project. Upon the expiration of maintenance period, the customers will provide
a maintenance certificate and pay the retentions within the term specified in the contract. The details of the
typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets recognised are set out in note 5.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. Impairment loss of
HK$970,000 (2019: HK$18,935,000) was recognised during the year. Details of impairment assessment were set
out in note 39.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The pledged bank deposits carried interest at market rates of the range from 0.3% to 0.35% (2019: 0.3%) per
annum.

As at 31 December 2020, the bank balances included a sum of HK$587,042,000 (2019: HK$16,590,000) deposits
carried fixed interest rate at 0.28% to 1.15% (2019: 1.2%) per annum. The remaining balances carried interest at
market rates which ranged from 0.001% to 0.38% (2019: 0.001% to 1%) per annum as at 31 December 2020.

Pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to secure certain bills payable, certain performance bonds,
and tender bonds and were therefore classified as current assets.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits and bank balances were set out in note 39.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND BILLS PAYABLE

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables at the end of the reporting period comprised amounts outstanding for trade purposes
and daily operating costs. The credit period taken for trade purchase is 7 to 45 days.

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$000

Contract creditors and suppliers 1,667,792 1,757,360
Retentions payable 482,934 443,262
2,150,726 2,200,622

Other tax payable 117,505 84,684
Other payables and accruals 131,708 104,112
2,399,939 2,389,418

The ageing analysis of contract creditors and suppliers was stated based on invoice date as follows:

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000

1-30 days 1,137,310 1,302,557
31-60 days 141,919 151,948
61-90 days 57,370 47,901
Over 90 days 331,193 254,954
1,667,792 1,757,360

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s retentions payable of HK$185,484,000 (2019: HK$192,107,000) was
expected to be paid after one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

27.

28.

29.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND BILLS PAYABLE (continuead)

Bills payable
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, certain bills payable were secured by certain bills receivable
and pledged bank deposits as set out in notes 23 and 26, respectively, and were repayable as follows:

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$000

1-30 days 137,231 106,162
31-60 days 75,790 48,624
61-90 days 76,381 51,419
Over 90 days 253,133 69,010
542,535 275,215

AMOUNT DUE TO A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY
The fellow subsidiary allows a credit period of 30 days to the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the balance represented retentions payable which was expected to be paid within one
year.

BANK BORROWINGS

2020 2019
HK$000 HK$'000
Secured (notes a and b) 947 42,400
Unsecured (note a) 163,800 330,933
164,747 373,333
Carrying amount of the above bank borrowings that contain
a repayment on demand clause (shown under current liabilities)
but repayable as follows (note ¢):
— within one year 80,210 209,042
— more than one year but not exceeding two years 80,211 72,509
— more than two years but not exceeding five years 4,326 87,927
— more than five years - 3,855
164,747 373,333

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings were variable-rate and bore interest at 1.5% per annum over Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (2019: 1.35% to 2% per annum over Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or 1.6% per annum over cost of fund, respectively)
and interest was repriced every month (2019: 1 to 4 months). As at 31 December 2020, the weighted average and the ranges of
effective interest rate (which is also equal to contracted interest rate) on the Group’s bank borrowings were 1.73% and 1.70% to 1.78%
per annum, respectively (2019: 4.16% and 3.66% to 4.69% per annum, respectively).

(b) As at 31 December 2020, the secured bank borrowings were secured by a commercial property (included in property, plant and
equipment) with carrying amount of HK$97,233,000 (2019: HK$100,902,000).

(©) The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the banking facility letters.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

LEASE LIABILITIES

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 10,749 8,329
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years 7,077 8,118
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years 364 6,023
18,190 22,470
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown
under current liabilities (10,749) (8,329)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown
under non-current liabilities 7,441 14,141

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities ranged from 1.75% to 5.90% (2019: from 3.19% to
5.90%).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$'000

Fitting-out works 88,525 76,769

Alteration and addition and construction works 49 49
Manufacturing, sourcing and distribution of

interior decorative materials 357 1,113

Shown under current liabilities 88,931 77,931

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to HK$110,001,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$000

Revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liability balance at the beginning of the year 75,854 99,413

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:
The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits ranged from 5% to 30% of total contract sum,

when the Group receives a deposit before the project commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the full amount of deposit is deducted proportionately from monthly progress payment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

PUrpOSes:
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000
Deferred tax assets 17,823 -
Deferred tax liabilities (1,806) (987)
16,017 (987)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements thereon during the
current and prior years:

Accelerated

tax

depreciation ECL provision Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

At 1 January 2019 (963) - (963)
Exchange adjustments 22 - 22
Charge to profit or loss (note 10) (46) - (46)
At 31 December 2019 (987) - (987)
Exchange adjustments (105) 984 879
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (note 10) (714) 16,839 16,125
At 31 December 2020 (1,806) 17,823 16,017

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused estimated tax losses of HK$94,431,000 (2019:
HK$61,398,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the estimated tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses
were HK$53,779,000 (2019: HK$39,400,000) with expiry dates as disclosed in the following table. The remaining
losses of HK$40,652,000 (2019: HK$21,998,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$°000

2022 18,781 17,645
2023 8,105 7,614
2024 12,421 14,141
2025 14,472 -
53,779 39,400

33. SHARE CAPITAL

Number

of shares Share capital
(0/00] HK$000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares with no par value
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020 2,158,210 1,246,815
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 1,514,615 1,469,684
Property, plant and equipment 1,070 1,740
Right-of-use assets 6,844 7,514
1,522,529 1,478,938
Current assets
Prepayments and deposits 730 1,114
Bank balances and cash 1,790 9,479
2,520 10,593
Current liabilities
Other payables 15,873 14,243
Tax payable 253 117
Bank borrowings 163,800 162,000
Lease liabilities 3,509 2,575
183,435 178,935
Net current liabilities (180,915) (168,342)
Total assets less current liabilities 1,341,614 1,310,596
Capital and reserves
Share capital 1,246,815 1,246,815
Reserves 91,166 58,581
1,337,981 1,305,396
Non-current liability
Lease liabilities 3,633 5,200
1,341,614 1,310,596

Movements in the Company’s reserves

Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve profits Total

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
At 1 January 2019 19,700 33,600 3,720 57,020
Profit for the year - - 163,427 163,427
Dividends paid - - (161,866) (161,866)
At 31 December 2019 19,700 33,600 5,281 58,581
Profit for the year - - 32,585 32,585
At 31 December 2020 19,700 33,600 37,866 91,166
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 September 2019, the Group entered into a share purchase agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group purchased 100% equity interest in Metro Palace Limited at a consideration of
HK$53,254,000. The Group acquired a commercial property through acquisition of Metro Palace Limited. The
transaction was completed on 31 October 2019.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) 53,385
Other receivables 351
Other payables (482)
Net assets acquired 53,254

Cash outflow on acquisition of Metro Palace Limited

HK$000

Cash consideration paid 53,254

No material acquisition related costs were incurred in the acquisition of Metro Palace Limited.

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year ended 31 December 2020 was HK$1,440,000 (2019: HK$520,000).
The investment properties with carrying amount of HK$53,945,000 (2019: HK$7,591,000) as at 31 December
2020 were held for rental purposes. The properties held have committed lessees for one month and one year,
respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group as lessor had contracted with lessees for the following
undiscounted lease payment receivables:

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$000
Within one year 1,126 137
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$000
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of:
— property, plant and equipment 244 1,703
— contribution to the capital of the unlisted equity fund 22,200 9,398

38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes bank borrowings and lease liabilities
disclosed in notes 29 and 30, respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits and
equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated
profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through payment of
dividends, issue of new shares as well as issue of new debts or redemption of existing debts.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019

HK$000 HK$'000

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost 3,540,890 2,911,218
Financial assets at FVTPL 153,351 216,539
3,694,241 3,127,757

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 2,973,417 2,939,352

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables and bills
receivable, amount due from a related company, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, bills payable, amount due to a fellow subsidiary, bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and
equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors of the Company consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency exchange risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group's transactions are denominated in the
functional currency of each individual group entity.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management of
the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies
other than functional currency of its respective group entities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Assets Liabilities

2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000

HK$ against Macau Pataca

("MOP") 50,874 38,481 14,699 54,000
United States dollars (“USD")

against HK$ 15,732 16,906 834 720
USD against MOP 3,527 887 492 492
Renminbi (“RMB”) against

HK$ and MOP 72,127 8,645 108 275
Euro against HK$ and MOP 20,134 1,185 - 255
HK$ against RMB 503 12 - -
British Pound Sterling

against HK$ 21 20 - -

Intra-group balances
HK$ against RMB 99,342 57,674 6,121 12,681
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
As HK$ is pegged to USD and the exchange rate of HK$/MOP and USD/MOP is relatively stable, the Group
does not expect any significant foreign currency exposure arising from the fluctuation of the HK$/MOP,
USD/HK$ and USD/MOP exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the Company consider that the
sensitivity of the Group’s exposure towards the change in foreign exchange rates between HK$/MOP,
USD/HKS$ and USD/MOP is minimal.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against HK$ and
MOP, Euro against HK$ and MOP, and HK$ against RMB. 5% represents management'’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items.

A positive number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit for the current year where a 5%
strengthening of RMB against HK$ and MOP, Euro against HK$ and MOP, or HK$ against RMB. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against HK$ and MOP, Euro against HK$ and MOP, or HK$ against RMB, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year as set out below:

Increase in post-tax profit

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$000

RMB against HK$ and MOP 3,128 364
Euro against HK$ and MOP 843 41
HK$ against RMB 3,983 1,913

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(i) Fair value interest rate risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates to fixed-rate of certain
bank deposits (see note 26 for details) and lease liabilities (see note 30 for details). The management of
the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bank borrowings (see note 26 for details of
the pledged bank deposits and bank balances and note 29 for details of bank borrowings). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

The Group's exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of each reporting period. For variable-rate pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and bank borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and bank borrowings outstanding at the end of each reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 10 basis points increase or decrease in variable-rate pledged bank deposits and
bank balances represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. If interest rate increases/decreases by the aforesaid basis point, and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 would increase/decrease by
HK$946,000 (2019: HK$985,000). A 50 basis points increase or decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If interest rate
increases/decreases by the aforesaid basis point, and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 would decrease/increase by HK$688,000 (2019:
HK$1,559,000).

Equity price risk

The Group's equity price risk mainly concentrated on financial assets at FVTPL. In addition, the Group
has appointed a special team to monitor the equity price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the equity shares had been 30% higher/lower, the profit for the year ended 31 December
2020 would increase/decrease by HK$18,405,000 (2019: HK$27,881,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Except for financial assets at FVTPL, the Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets and other
items under ECL model. Information about the Group's credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures
and the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables, bills receivable and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customers. Recoverability of the existing
customers is reviewed by the Group regularly. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced, In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually and/or collectively. Except for trade receivables,
bills receivable and contract assets that are credit-impaired, which are assessed for impairment individually,
the remaining trade receivables, bills receivable and contract assets are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group's internal credit ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set
out below in this note.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the management of the Group makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of the majority of these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. Impairment loss of HK$3,360,000 (2019: nil) was recognised
in profit or loss during the year.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances
The credit risks on pledged bank deposits and bank balances are limited because the counterparties are financial
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables consist of a
large number of customers.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:
Trade receivables/

bills receivable/
contract assets

Other financial
assets/other items

Internal
credit rating

Description

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default
and does not have any past-due amounts

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually
settle in full

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial assets and contract assets, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

Internal 12m or Gross
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL carrying amount
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
Trade receivables 23 (Note) Lifetime ECL 1,625,027 1,533,580
(not credit-impaired)
Loss Lifetime ECL 219,516 85,689

(credit-impaired)
1,844,543 1,619,269

Bills receivable 23 (Note) Lifetime ECL 37,696 9,946
(not credit-impaired)

Lifetime ECL 5,941 -
(credit-impaired)

43,637 9,946

Contract assets 25 (Note) Lifetime ECL 1,701,838 1,766,108
(not credit-impaired)

Loss Lifetime ECL 28,589 68,337

(credit-impaired)
1,730,427 1,834,445

Other receivables 23 Low risk 12m ECL 129,923 171,486
(not credit-impaired)

Amount due from a 24 Low risk 12m ECL 1,444 9,027
related company (not credit-impaired)
Pledged bank deposits 26 Low risk 12m ECL 90,398 56,902

(not credit-impaired)

Bank balances 26 Low risk 12m ECL 1,571,763 1,077,792
(not credit-impaired)

Note:

For trade receivables, bills receivable and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for trade receivables, bills receivable and contract
assets with credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on a collective basis, grouped by internal credit
rating.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED

143



144

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables, bills receivable
and contract assets which are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Trade
receivables, bills receivable and contract assets which are credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of
HK$219,516,000, HK$5,941,000 and HK$28,589,000, respectively (2019: HK$85,689,000, nil and HK$68,337,000,
respectively) as at 31 December 2020 were assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

2020 2019
Average Trade Bills  Contract Average Trade Bills Contract
Internal credit rating loss rate receivables receivable assets lossrate  receivables  receivable assets
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Low risk 1.14% 1,029,047 23,425 1,324,586 0.10% 954,850 9946 1,209,439
Watch list 3.28% 595,980 14,271 377,252 2.30% 578,730 - 556,669
1,625,027 37,696 1,701,838 1,533,580 9946 1,766,108

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
The contract assets have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same type
of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables and bills
receivable under the simplified approach.

Trade receivables Bills receivable
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit- (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
At 1 January 2019 1,304 15,574 - - 16,878
— impairment losses
recognised 14,963 2,071 - - 17,034
— exchange adjustments (267) (129) - - (396)
At 31 December 2019 16,000 17,516 - - 33,516
— transfer to credit-impaired (5,569) 5,569 - - -
— impairment losses
recognised 29,339 67,113 792 1,431 98,675
- exchange adjustments 2,074 3,411 46 84 5,615
At 31 December 2020 41,844 93,609 838 1,515 137,806
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable or bills receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade receivables and bills receivable
that have been written off is subject to enforcement activities.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for contract assets.

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-

impaired) impaired)

HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2019 - 10,797 10,797
—impairment losses recognised 12,319 6,616 18,935
— exchange adjustments (85) (35) (120)
At 31 December 2019 12,234 17,378 29,612
— transfer to credit-impaired (2,139) 2,139 -
— impairment losses recognised (reversed) 5,922 (4,952) 970
— exchange adjustments 802 861 1,663
At 31 December 2020 16,819 15,426 32,245

The changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables, bills receivable and contract assets are mainly due
to the default in payment by certain debtors during the year. As at 31 December 2020, the gross carrying
amounts of the aforesaid assets were HK$219,516,000, HK$5,941,000 and HK$28,589,000, respectively (2019:
HK$85,689,000, nil and HK$68,337,000, respectively) and were determined as credit-impaired at average 10ss
rate of 42.64%, 25.50% and 53.96%, respectively (2019: 20.44%, nil and 25.43%, respectively).

On 17 August 2017, Sundart Engineering Services (Macau) Limited (“Sundart Macau”), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, served two notices of arbitration to a main contractor of two fitting-out
projects undertaken by the Group for a hotel in Macau, seeking outstanding payments. It was agreed by the
parties that the main contractor would make payment of the agreed amount (the “Agreed Amount”) to Sundart
Macau in relation to the subject fitting-out projects. However, as the main contractor had failed to settle the
Agreed Amount after two instalments of payment since August 2018, Sundart Macau resumed the arbitration
proceedings in December 2018 (the “Resumed Arbitration”). Although the Resumed Arbitration was under
progress, the main contractor settled four instalments of payment during the year ended 31 December 2019.
On 24 June 2020, the main contractor and Sundart Macau signed the final account statements and the main
contractor settled the payment in accordance with the payment schedule stated on the final account statements
up to the date of this report. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the aforesaid trade receivables
will not materially affect the Group’s operating and financial performance. No further impairment loss was made.

Additionally, there were long outstanding balances of trade receivables and contract assets in relation to certain
fitting-out projects undertaken by the Group in the PRC. Such long outstanding balances were mainly attributable
to the low amount of settlements during the year. The management of the Group had been negotiating with
such customers for the settlements, therefore no further impairment loss was made.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table included both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows were floating rate, the
undiscounted amount was derived from contracted interest rate curve at the end of each reporting period.

Weighted  Less than Between Between Between Total
average 4 months or 4to6 7t012 1t0o5 undiscounted Carrying

interest rate  on demand months months years  cash flows amount
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

2020

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables N/A 1,957,400 62,975 60,276 185484 2,266,135 2,266,135

Bills payable N/A 289,402 242,374 10,759 = 542,535 542,535

Bank borrowings N/A 164,747 - - - 164,747 164,747

Lease liabilities 5.08 3,237 2,637 5221 7,447 18,542 18,190
2,414,786 307,986 76,256 192,931 2,991,959 2,991,607

2019

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables N/A 2,008,974 54,001 35,569 192,107 2,290,651 2,290,651

Bills payable N/A 206,205 65,377 3,633 - 275,215 275,215

Amount due to a fellow subsidiary N/A 76 - 71 - 153 153

Bank borrowings N/A 373333 - - - 373333 373333

Lease liabilities 539 2,686 2121 4,243 14,449 23499 2470

2,591,274 121499 43522 206,556 2,962,851 2961822
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause were included in the “Less than 4 months or on demand”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amounts of the bank borrowings amounted to HK$164,747,000 (2019: HK$373,333,000). Taking into account
the Group'’s financial position, the director of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe that
such outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 will be fully repaid by June
2025 in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the banking facility letter, details of which are
set out in the table below:

Maturity analysis - Bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

Weighted
average Total
interest Lessthan  Between  Between Over undiscounted Carrying
rate 1year 1-2years 3-5years 5 years cash outflows amount
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 December 2020 1.73 82,321 80,941 4,347 - 167,609 164,747
At 31 December 2019 416 217,656 77,747 91,108 3,900 390,411 373,333

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes.
The management of the Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages an independent qualified professional valuer to
perform the valuation. The management of the Group works closely with the valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation technigues and inputs to the model. The respective management team reports the findings to the
directors of the Company regularly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

Fair value
2020 2019 hierarchy

HK$000 HK$ 000

Financial assets at FVTPL

Listed equity securities 61,351 92,937 Level 1
Unlisted equity fund 92,000 123,602 Level 3
Total 153,351 216,539
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

The fair values of listed equity securities are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices from
relevant stock exchanges.

The fair value of unlisted equity fund is determined with reference to market values of underlying asset, which
mainly comprise investment property located in Hong Kong held by the investee fund and take into account the
discount for lack of marketability. The valuation of the property was principally arrived at using the comparison
method, in which property is valued on the assumption that the property can be sold with the benefit of
vacant possession. Comparison based on prices realised on actual sales of comparable properties is made for
similar properties in the similar location. The significant unobservable inputs include the discount for lack of
marketability for the underlying asset. An increase in the rate to discounting for lack of marketability used in the
valuation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement of the unlisted equity fund and vice versa.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets

Unlisted

(=1s [1114Y

fund

HK$000

At 1 January 2019 128,760
Addition 9,842
Loss from fair value changes recognised in profit or loss (15,000)
At 31 December 2019 123,602
Addition 9,398
Loss from fair value changes recognised in profit or loss (41,000)
At 31 December 2020 92,000

The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Except as detailed in above, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets

and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

PERFORMANCE BONDS, ADVANCE PAYMENT BONDS AND TENDER BONDS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has issued performance bonds and tender bonds in respect of certain
supply and installation contracts through the banks amounting to HK$592,542,000 (2019: HK$626,390,000).

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, certain performance bonds and tender bonds were secured by
certain pledged bank deposits as set out in note 26.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes at the
lower of a specified amount or 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The employees of the subsidiaries operated in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.

Eligible employees in Macau currently participate in a defined contribution pension scheme operated by the
local government which is a fixed amount for each employee.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

During the year, the Group has made contributions to retirement benefit schemes as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$000

Contributions paid and payable 7,898 16,015
Less: Capitalised to contract costs and inventories (5,775) (10,688)
2,123 5,327

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 1 December 2015 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to any executives, any employee
(including proposed, full-time or part-time employee), a director or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director), a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Company and its subsidiaries
and an associate of any of the aforementioned persons (“Eligible Persons”) who the board of directors of the
Company considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group. Under the Share
Option Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant options to Eligible Persons, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at 29 December 2015, being the date of the listing of ordinary shares of the Company (i.e.
200,000,000 shares). The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each Eligible Persons (including both exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue for the time.
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Options granted shall be taken up upon payment of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may
be exercised at any time not exceeding a period of 10 years from the date which the share option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. The subscription price is determined by the board of directors of the Company, and
shall not be less than whichever is the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited's daily quotations sheet on the date of offer and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed, forfeited or expired during the year.

43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

Bank Lease Dividend

borrowings liabilities payable

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
At 1 January 2019 294,539 25,163 - 319,702
Financing cash flows 78,794 (6,291) (161,866) (89,363)
Lease modified - 3,598 - 3,598
Interest expenses 13,489 1,135 - 14,624
Interest paid (13,489) (1,135) - (14,624)
Dividends recognised as distribution - - 161,866 161,866
At 31 December 2019 373,333 22,470 - 395,803
Financing cash flows (208,586) (8,530) - (217,116)
Rent concessions - (339 - (339)
Lease modified - 3,831 - 3,831
Exchange adjustments - 758 - 758
Interest expenses 6,960 804 - 7,764
Interest paid (6,960) (804) - (7,764)
At 31 December 2020 164,747 18,190 - 182,937
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from amount due from a related company, retentions receivable from a related company (included in
contract assets) and amount due to a fellow subsidiary as set out in notes 24, 25 and 28, respectively, the Group
has following transactions with its related parties:

Relationships Nature of transactions 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
Related companies Acquisition of a commercial building
(excluded deed tax) (note a) 209,231 -
Rental income (note b) 932 -
Ultimate holding company Entrustment fee income 88 89
Fellow subsidiaries Revenue from fitting-out works 11,836 2,690
Entrustment fee income 230 233
Technical advisory service fee expenses 2,453 4,909
Specialised works subcontracting costs 719 3,065
Notes:
(a) In January 2020, the Group acquired a commercial building in the PRC from a related company in which Mr. Liu, and his spouse have in

aggregate 60% beneficial interest, in order to accelerate the development of the Group in the PRC market.

(b) In July 2020, the Group had leased two floors of the commercial building to a related company in which Mr. Liu and his spouse have in
aggregate 95% beneficial interest as its office use for one year in exchange of rental.

In addition,

(a) as at 31 December 2020, the ultimate holding company had outstanding performance bonds, advance
payment bonds and a tender bond amounting to HK$383,606,000 (2019: HK$303,768,000) issued in favour
of customers of Sundart Beijing through a bank.

(b) as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, certain Sundart Beijing's banking facilities were
guaranteed by the ultimate holding company. Sundart Beijing did not pay any charges for the guarantee
granted.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group during the year was as follows:

2020 2019

HK$°000 HK$'000

Salaries and short-term benefits 45,512 43,484
Post-employment benefits 369 391
45,881 43,875
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Compensation of key management personnel (Continued)
The remuneration of key management personnel was determined by the directors of the Company having
regard to the performance of individuals and the Group.

The above related party transactions for the year ended 31 December 2020 in respect of acquisition of a
commercial building, revenue from fitting-out works, technical advisory service fee expenses and specialised
works subcontracting costs constituted discloseable connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section headed
“Connected transactions” in the Directors’ Report.

45. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation or paid capital/  Equity interests
establishment/  registered capital/ attributable to

Name of subsidiary operations quota capital the Group Principal activities

Direct subsidiaries:
Sundart Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
HONEST PARK LIMITED BVI/Hong Kong UsD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Sundart Products Limited BVI/Hong Kong N 100% 100%  Investment holding and
leasing of intellectual
properties
GLORYEILD ENTERPRISES LIMITED BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
GROW PATH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ~ BVI/Hong Kong UsD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Indlirect subsicliaries:
Sundart Timber Hong Kong HK$46,510,000 100% 100%  Investment holding and
fitting-out works
Sundart Macau Macau MOP100,000 100% 100%  Fitting-out works
Sundart Elite Base Engineering Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Fitting-out works
Limited (formerly known as Elite
Base Engineering Limited)
Sundart Engineering Investments Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Sundart Beijing (note a) The PRC HK$182,270,000 100% 100%  Fitting-out works
FoERIRERTEBMRAT (formerly  The PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Fitting-out works
known as HiEREAIRERTIER
IR 2 7)) (note &)
EREEEEERAA The PRC RMB30,000,000 100% N/A  Property holding and
leasing of properties

SUNDART HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020



153

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

45. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation or paid capital/ Equity interests
establishment/  registered capital/ attributable to
Name of subsidiary operations quota capital the Group Principal activities
2020 2019
GLORY SPRING INVESTMENTS LIMITED  BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Kin Shing (Leung's) General Hong Kong HK$17,800,000 100% 100%  Construction and civil
Contractors Limited engineering works
Sundart Project Management & Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Project management and
Consultancy Limited consultancy services
Sundart Living Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Dongguan Sundart Home Furnishing ~ The PRC HK$111,570,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
Co., Ltd. (note b) distribution of interior
decorative materials
Sundart International Supply Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sourcing and distribution
of interior decorative
materials
Sundart International Supply Macau MOP25,000 100% 100%  Sourcing and distribution
(Macau) Limited of interior decorative
materials
EASY GLORY HOLDINGS LIMITED BVI/Hong Kong UsD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
PROPER WEALTH GROUP LIMITED BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
PEAK GAIN DEVELOPMENT LIMITED BVI/Hong Kong UsD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Glory One Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
GOOD ENCORE LIMITED BVI/Hong Kong UsD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Good Encore Development Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Leasing of property
In Wave Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
ACUTE KEY INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ~ BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Metro Palace Limited Hong Kong HK$3 100% 100%  Leasing of property
Notes:
(a) This is a sino-foreign joint venture established in the PRC.
(b) This is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the year.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

Year ended 31 December

2020 2019 AONES 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RENEIED))

Results
Revenue 5,929,077 6,096,159 5,390,754 4,982,948 5,114,876
Profit before tax 478,729 489,139 445,214 485,544 609,166
Income tax expense (72,271) (76,165) (64,012) (64,451) (85,999)

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 406,458 412,974 381,202 421,093 523,167

Earnings per share
Basic (HK cents) 18.83 19.14 17.66 19.51 25.30

At 31 December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RENEIED))

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 6,281,560 5,743,174 4,946,189 4,878,216 4,938,506
Total liabilities (3,284,709) (3,207,854)  (2,647,560)  (2,846,445)  (2,527,479)
Equity attributable to

owners of the Company 2,996,851 2,535,320 2,298,629 2,031,771 2,411,027
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